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1. I am the founder and sole officer and director of Go-To Developments Holdings Inc.

(“GTDH”) and as such, I have personal knowledge of the matters to which I herein depose.

Where the source of my information or belief is other than my own personal knowledge, I

have identified the source and the basis for my information and believe it to be true. All

references to currency in this Affidavit are references to Canadian dollars, unless otherwise

indicated.

I. INTRODUCTION AND OVERVIEW

2. This Affidavit is sworn in response to a Motion (the “Fresh Evidence Motion”) by the 

Ontario Securities Commission (the “Commission”) to have new evidence (the “Fresh 

Evidence”) admitted in connection with the Commission’s response to the appeal of the 

Order of the Honourable Mr. Justice Pattillo of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice 

(Commercial List) issued December 10, 2021 (the “Receivership Order”). Capitalized 

terms used herein are as defined in the Affidavit of Paul Baik sworn March 7, 2022 and the 

Exhibits thereto (the “Baik Affidavit”) unless otherwise defined herein.

A. The Appellants have Substantively Responded

3. The Commission’s suggestion that the Appellants have not responded to the Commission’s 

allegations is categorically incorrect.

4. On February 1, 2022, my counsel provided to the Commission a detailed letter which 

contains my substantive responses to, among other things, the issues raised in the materials 

that the Commission seeks to introduce on the Fresh Evidence Motion. Together with the
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documents enclosed, my correspondence totals 1,881 pages. A copy of this letter is not 

attached to ensure compliance with section 16 of the Securities Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. S. 5, 

as amended, but can be made available to the Court as necessary.

5. I am attaching as Exhibit “A” a copy of my affidavit sworn on December 14, 2021 in 

support of the motion to stay the Receivership Order pending the hearing of the appeal. 

The attached affidavit contains my substantive responses to, among other things, the issues 

raised in the materials the Commission seeks to introduce on the Fresh Evidence Motion.

B. Timing of the Adelaide Transaction

6. At the outset I wish to make it clear to the Court that all of the steps that I have taken, 

including entering into the agreement of purchase and sale for the Adelaide LP’s properties, 

were taken with the best interests of investors in mind. My sole objective has always been 

to maximize investor recovery and I have offered (and will continue to offer) my full 

cooperation to the Receiver to achieve this critical objective.

7. In specific response to the Commission’s allegations at paragraph 7(a) of the Commission’s 

factum for the Fresh Evidence Motion, I note that I had been working on the sale of the 

Adelaide LP’s properties for several months prior to the issuance of the Receivership 

Order. The agreement of purchase and sale in respect of this property contemplated a 

purchase price of $116 million representing an increase of approximately 57% from the 

price of $74.25 million at which the property was acquired in April of 2019 (the “Adelaide 

Transaction”). I further note that nowhere in the Fresh Evidence (i.e., the Receiver’s 

reports dated December 20, 2021 and February 3, 2022), upon which the Commission
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relies to criticize my conduct, does the Receiver actually take issue with the merits of the 

Adelaide Transaction. In my view, this was an exceptional opportunity and was highly 

favourable for investors, and was, unfortunately, thwarted as a consequence of the 

Commission’s decision to seek to have a receiver appointed. 

8. Further, although I expressly do not waive privilege, I believe that it is important that the

Court be advised of the fact that legal counsel was engaged and was fully aware that Justice

Pattillo’s decision in respect of the Receivership Application was under reserve when the

Adelaide Transaction was entered into.

9. I have at no time attempted to conceal any of my efforts to maximize investor recovery.

Rather, I have offered my assistance to the Receiver and will unhesitatingly continue to do

so.

C. Cancellation of Pre-Sale Contracts - Employees Affected by Receivership

10. At paragraph 17 of the Commission’s factum for the Fresh Evidence Motion, the

Commission pejoratively describes the cancellation of 7 pre-sale condominium contracts

prior to the issuance of the Receivership Order as examples of “further misconduct and

self-dealing.” Nothing could be further from the truth.

11. To clarify, 25 pre-sale contracts were entered into by my “friends and family.” Of those

pre-sale contracts, 7 were cancelled. Certain of these contracts had been entered into by

employees of the Go-To entities and their immediate family members over which the

Commission sought the appointment of a receiver. The affected employees were therefore
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at risk of losing their jobs and, accordingly, were permitted to terminate their respective

contracts. The employment of each of these employees was in fact terminated by the 

Receiver without severance which resulted in obvious and significant financial hardship.

The actions that the Commission impugns were taken solely to assist employees and did 

not afford me any personal benefit.

12. I note again, without waiving privilege, that legal counsel was engaged when this decision

was made and was cognizant of the fact that the Receivership Application contemplated an

order the terms of which would preclude the cancellation of contracts by third parties.

D. The Detrimental Impact of the Receivership

13. In response to the allegations made at paragraph 7(c) of the Commission’s factum for the

Fresh Evidence Motion, to the extent that the Go-To entities are in “financial jeopardy,” I

believe that the receivership has been the material cause of this circumstance. In particular,

the receivership has thwarted numerous advantageous refinancing and restructuring

transactions that could not be consummated as a result of the Receivership Order.

14. I note that every one of the Go-To projects weathered the COVID-19 pandemic, which is

in and of itself a testament to their fundamental commercial soundness and stands in stark

contrast to much of the rest of the industry.

15. Additionally, based on the numerous communications I have had with investors since the

issuance of the Receivership Order, I understand that the overwhelming majority of

investors opposed the appointment of the Receiver. I have been advised by a number of

7
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February 9, 2022 for the approval of a sales process for the real properties (the “Sales 

Process Motion”). While none of the investors took a legal position on the Sales Process 

Motion, I have received various communications from investors who have advised me of 

their belief that they had “no choice” but to accept that the Receiver’s sales process will

proceed. 

19. In this regard, I understand from Parmpal Parmar, one of the investors in the Go-To Aurora 

project, that he has had various communications with the Receiver and that as a result of 

these communications, he was left with the impression that given the Receiver’s mandate, 

any challenge by investors to any step in the Receivership proceedings would be futile. I 

understand that Mr. Parmar intends to file an affidavit detailing his discussions with the 

Receiver in this regard.

20. The Commission also purports to rely on the fact that I did not personally oppose the Sale 

Process Motion as evidence that I have acceded to the appointment of the Receiver. 

However, the fact is that I have been absolutely unwavering in my determination to 

challenge the Receiver’s appointment, and commenced the within appeal and sought an 

emergency stay of the Receivership Order within days of its issuance.

21. As such, any lack of opposition to the Sale Process Motion on my part was simply a 

recognition that if the Receiver was to remain in place, then the Appellants’ business would 

be destroyed and a liquidation of its assets would be the right course of action. But this 

recognition has in no way diminished my view that the hearing of the receivership 

application and appointment of the Receiver was wholly improper, unfair and unjust, 

9
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insofar as, among other things, the Appellants were deprived of the most basic elements of 

procedural fairness and a meaningful opportunity to respond to the case against them.

22. Furthermore, this recognition has in no way diminished my view that if the Receivership 

Order is vacated, then: (i) the Appellants’ business can be salvaged to the benefit of the 

investors, and (ii) the Appellants will be successful in opposing any subsequent 

receivership application by the Commission.

23. I swear this affidavit in response to the Commission’s Motion for admission of the Fresh

Evidence, and for no other or improper purpose or delay.

SWORN before me at the City of 
Mississauga, in the Province of Ontario, 
this 2nd day of April, 2022.

OSCAR FURTADO
Commissioner for Taking Affidavits

MONICA FAHEIM

10
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1. I am the founder and sole officer and director of Go-To Developments Holdings Inc. 

(“GTDH”) and as such, I have personal knowledge of the matters to which I herein depose.  Where 

the source of my information or belief is other than my own personal knowledge, I have identified 

the source and the basis for my information and believe it to be true. All references to currency in 

this Affidavit are references to Canadian dollars, unless otherwise indicated. 

I. INTRODUCTION 

2. This Affidavit is sworn in support of a Motion for an Order staying the Order of the 

Honourable Mr. Justice Pattillo of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice (Commercial List) issued 

December 10, 2021 (the “Receivership Order”), among other things, appointing KSV 

Restructuring Inc. (“KSV”) as receiver and manager (in such capacity, the “Receiver”) of: (i) the 

real properties and entities listed on Schedule “A” to the Receivership Order (collectively, the 

“Real Properties”), and (ii) all the other assets, undertakings and properties of each of the parties 

listed on Schedule “B” to the Receivership Order (collectively, the “Receivership Entities”). 

Copies of the Receivership Order and the related Endorsement of the Honourable Mr. Justice 

Pattillo issued December 10, 2021 (the “Endorsement”) are attached hereto as Exhibits “A” and 

“B”, respectively. 

3. GTDH and the other Receivership Entities and respondents (collectively, the “Appellants” 

or the “Moving Parties”) filed a Notice of Appeal dated December  2021 (the “Notice of 

Appeal”) in respect of the Receivership Order. A copy of the Notice of Appeal is attached hereto 

as Exhibit “C”. 
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II. BACKGROUND 

A. Go-To Developments 

4. GTDH operates a property development business. GTDH is an Ontario corporation with 

its head office in Oakville, Ontario. Attached hereto as Exhibit “D” is a copy of a Corporate 

Profile Report dated December 13, 2021. 

5. GTDH conducts its business through an organizational structure that includes a number of 

limited partnerships (collectively, with GTDH, “Go-To Developments”). GTDH is the sole 

shareholder in respect of each of the corporate general partners in the structure. An organizational 

chart in respect of Go-To Developments is attached hereto as Exhibit “E”. 

6. I am the sole officer and director of each of the Moving Parties in this proceeding except 

for Go-To Major Mackenzie South Block Inc. and Go-To Major Mackenzie South Block II Inc. I 

am the sole director, President and Secretary of those two corporations, and Mike Smith (a project 

manager at the construction management firm retained in respect of certain development projects) 

is also listed as an officer for these two entities in accordance with a request from Tarion (formerly 

known as the Ontario New Home Warranty Program).  

7. The corporate respondents, other than GTDH, Furtado Holdings and Go-To Developments 

Acquisitions Inc. (“GTDA”), are the general partners (the “GPs”) of the limited partnership (the 

“LPs”) respondents in this proceeding. Although there are nine Go-To Developments projects 

(collectively, the “Projects”), there are ten GPs and ten LPs, as one project (ie, Major Mackenzie 

South Block) has two of each. 

17
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B. The Real Properties 

8. Each of the LPs owns, alone or with others, one or more Real Properties in Ontario. 

Attached as Exhibit “F” hereto is a list of the Real Properties. 

C. The Investors 

9. Between May 2016 and June 2020, Go-To Developments raised approximately $60.5 

million from Ontario residents (collectively, the “Investors”) via distributions of units of the 10 

LPs. Most if not all of the Investors are my friends and family, and were known to me or I was 

known to them. This amount includes an aggregate amount of approximately $24.3 million raised 

by Adelaide LP from 23 investors between February 15, 2019 and June 18, 2020. I note that the 

paragraphs 18 and 21 to the Collins Affidavit (as defined below) include incorrect information in 

this regard.  

III. THE ONTARIO SECURITIES COMMISSION 

A. Staff Investigation 

10. The Enforcement Branch (“Staff”) of the Ontario Securities Commission (the 

“Commission”) has been conducting an investigation of GTDH since before March of 2019.  

11. I first learned of the Commission’s interest in Go-To Developments in late March of 2019, 

when Staff delivered an Enquiry Letter in respect of GTDH. 

B. Interviews by the Commission 

12. In the course of its investigation of Go-To Developments, the Commission interviewed me 

three times (collectively, the “Furtado Interviews”), on: 

(a) September 24, 2020; 
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(b) November 5, 2020; and 

(c) July 7, 2021. 

13.  The Collins Affidavit contains a number of excerpts from the transcripts of the Furtado 

Interviews (the “Furtado Transcripts”). However, despite requests, the Commission has refused 

to provide me or my counsel with copies of either the Furtado Transcripts or the exhibits thereto.  

14. In addition to my three interviews, I, through counsel, provided dozens of written responses 

and extensive supporting documentation to more than two dozen separate Staff requests for 

information and documents.  

15. I understand from my review of the Collins Affidavit that the Commission has also 

interviewed Anthony Marek (“Marek”), and relies on excerpts from the transcripts (the “Marek 

Transcripts”) of his interview (the “Marek Interview”) in support of the Receivership 

Application.   

16. However, despite requests, the Commission has refused to provide me with copies of the 

Marek Transcripts and the exhibits thereto. Given the manner in which the investigation was 

described in the Application, I would assume that the Commission has interviewed other investors. 

However, absolutely no evidence or information from any other investor, other than Marek, was 

disclosed on the Application or has ever been disclosed to me or to my counsel. Moreover, there 

is absolutely no evidence that any other investor has complained or made any allegations in support 

of the allegations made by the Committee in its Application. With my limited ability to review the 

evidence (as a result of the Commission’s refusal to provide me with the Marek Transcripts and 
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the exhibits thereto), I deny the evidence or information that the Commission attributes to Marek 

in its Application.  

C. Freeze Directions 

17. On December 6, 2021, the Commission issued two Freeze Directions in connection with 

this matter (together, the “Freeze Directions”). Copies of the Freeze Directions are attached 

together hereto as Exhibit “G” 

IV. THE RECEIVERSHIP APPLICATION 

A. Service of the Application Record 

18. I am advised by my counsel, Darryl Mann of Torkin Manes LLP, and do verily believe that 

at approximately 3:35 pm on Monday December 6, 2021, the Commission notified him of an 

Application being brought by the Commission returnable December 9, 2021 and the availability 

an electronic copy of the Application Record (the “Application Record”). The Application 

Record was not attached to that e-mail. The e-mail from the Commission did not contain any 

information as to the nature of the Application, including the relief sought by the Commission. 

Attached as Exhibit “H” hereto is a copy of an email dated December 6, 2021 from Erin Hoult of 

the Commission to Mr. Mann.  

19. By email sent at 7:08 pm on Monday December 6, 2021, Mr. Mann confirmed to Ms. Hoult 

that he would accept service of the Application Record, and requested that a copy be delivered as 

soon as possible. Mr. Mann also expressly reserved all rights in respect of the short notice of the 

proceeding. Attached as Exhibit “I” hereto is a copy of an email dated December 6, 2021 from 

Mr. Mann to Ms. Hoult. 
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20. By email sent at 7:21 pm on Monday December 6, 2021, Ms. Hoult provided a link to an 

electronic copy of Application Record. Attached as Exhibit “J” hereto is a copy of an email dated 

December 6, 2021 from Ms. Hoult to Mr. Mann including a link to the Application Record. It was 

only upon the review of the Application Record (which I was only able to review on December 7, 

2021 as a result of its size and the inability to forward through email) that it became clear that the 

Commission’s Application was for the appointment of a receiver and manager.  

21. The Application Record was comprised of a number of documents including the Affidavit 

of Stephanie Collins sworn December 6, 2021 (the “Collins Affidavit”). Due to its volume it is 

not practical to attach the Application Record as an exhibit to this Affidavit, but I have attached 

hereto copies of the Index of the Application Record and the Notice of Application as Exhibits 

“K” and “L” respectively. 

22. I note that the Collins Affidavit is 1,958 pages long, and includes 113 exhibits.  

Consequently, attached as Exhibit “M” is a copy of the Collins Affidavit without the exhibits.  

B. Overview of Allegations in Application Record 

23. The Application for the Receivership Order (the “Application”) is premised on the 

following two principal allegations by the Commission: 

(a) That I received benefits (through my holding company, Furtado Holdings Inc. 

(“Furtado Holdings”), that were not disclosed to the unitholders of Go-To Spadina 

Adelaide Square LP (“Adelaide LP”); and 

(b) That I attempted to conceal information from and gave conflicting and misleading 

evidence to Staff.   

21
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24. I deny the Commission’s allegations, conclusions or characterizations, as more particularly 

set out at paragraphs 38 through 68 below. However, due to the late notice of the voluminous 

Application Record, and Staff’s failure and refusal to disclose the entirety of the evidence, 

including the Transcripts, I have not been provided with a meaningful opportunity to respond to 

the Commission. 

C. Hearing of Application 

25. The Application was heard by Justice Pattillo at approximately 2:00 pm EST on Thursday 

December 9, 2021 (the “Hearing”), less than 72 hours after receipt of notice of the Hearing and 

access to the Application Record on Monday December 6th. 

26. I am advised by Mr. Mann and do verily believe that:  

(a) On the morning of Tuesday December 7, 2021, he contacted Ms. Hoult by e-mail 

to set up a telephone call. On the telephone call in the late afternoon of Tuesday 

December 7, 2021, Mr. Mann advised that, given factors that included the late 

service of the Application Record, the massive size of the Collins Affidavit, the 

failure of the Commission to disclose the full Furtado Transcripts and Marek 

Transcripts, and Go-To Developments’ need to engage independent counsel, it 

would not be possible for the respondents to properly respond to the Application;  

(b) During the telephone call of December 7, 2021, with a view to allaying the 

Commission’s concerns set out in its Application Record, he requested a consensual 

adjournment of the Application and proposed interim terms to be implemented 
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(c) On December 2021, the Commission advised Mr. Mann that it would not consent 

to any adjournment or any terms whatsoever.  

27. As such, the Hearing proceeded as scheduled, with Mr. Mann in attendance on behalf of 

the respondents. I was also in attendance and observed the Hearing virtually.  

28. During the Hearing, Mr. Mann advised Justice Pattillo that, given factors that included the 

late service of the Application Record, the massive size of the Collins Affidavit and Go-To 

Developments’ need to engage independent counsel, it had effectively been impossible for me (or 

the other respondents) to properly respond to the Application. As such, Mr. Mann requested an 

adjournment of the Application, and proposed the Adjournment and Proposed Terms, which, as 

detailed above, were proposed to and denied by the Commission.  

29. Notably, during the Hearing, Ms. Hoult advised the Court that it was a “close call” as to 

whether the Commission was to proceed with or without notice. While the Commission has 

characterized their Application as one with notice, it was for all intents and purposes a “without 

notice” Application by virtue of the extreme short notice that was provided, and they have failed 

to produce and disclose all of the appropriate evidence and have also clearly failed to provide full 

and fair disclosure of all pertinent and material facts and evidence.  

V. THE RECEIVERSHIP ORDER 

A. Issuance of the Receivership Order 

30. For the reasons set out in the Endorsement, Justice Pattillo declined to grant the 

adjournment and issued the Receivership Order. 
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31. As set out in the Endorsement, Justice Pattillo found that the respondents had received 

sufficient notice of the Application to have filed responding material, and dismissed the 

adjournment request. Justice Pattillo also found that, despite the length of time the Commission’s 

investigation had been ongoing, having regard to the interests of the Investors it was necessary that 

the Receiver be appointed immediately. 

32. With all due respect to Justice Pattillo, I categorically disagree with both of these findings. 

First, there was no realistic way that between  pm on Monday and 2:00 pm on Thursday, I 

could have read and considered the Collins Affidavit and balance of the Application Record so as 

to put myself in a position to engage and instruct independent counsel for Go-To Developments 

and have them file responding materials, much less cross-examine the affiant of the Collins 

Affidavit. 

33. While I acknowledge the serious nature of certain of the allegations in the Application 

Record, that does not mean (and I do not agree) that those allegations are true. In fact, I disagree 

with many of the Commission’s allegations, as well as many of the characterizations and 

conclusions in the Collins Affidavit, and I do not believe that the Commission provided all of the 

relevant facts. 

34. Second, I do not believe that there was any urgency to the hearing of the Application. The 

Commission’s own conduct belies any claim to urgency. The fact is that substantially all of the 

facts alleged by the Commission have been known to it for well over a year. There was no 

allegation or evidence relied upon by the Commission that arose subsequent to 2020. The 

Application Record does not disclose any suggestion of imminent prejudice to the Investors or any 

other person.  
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35. Furthermore, as noted above, any residual concerns for Investors could have been 

addressed through consensual measures far less draconian, disruptive and prejudicial to Go-To 

Developments than the appointment of the Receiver, including the Adjournment and Proposed 

Terms.   

B. Impact of the Order 

36. The issuance of the Receivership Order is devastating to Go-To Developments and its 

business, and I believe it will have a significant negative impact on the Investors. 

37. In particular, Go-To Developments is engaged in a number of pending transactions 

including a sale of one of the Properties on terms that I believe are excellent and will substantially 

benefit certain Investors, as well as re-financings of certain of the Properties. In addition, the 

appointment of the Receiver is causing substantial – and in my view, entirely unwarranted – 

reputational damage to Go-To Developments and to me personally.  

VI. RESPONSES TO THE COMMISSION’S ALLEGATIONS 

38. As noted above, the Application is premised on two principal categories of allegations by 

the Commission. For the reasons set out below, I deny the Commission’s allegations, conclusions 

and characterizations. 

39. As a preliminary matter, I note that the Commission included only 25 pages of the Furtado 

Transcripts from my extensive interviews. As noted above, my counsel has requested copies of the 

full Furtado Transcripts, including the exhibits, but the Commission has refused them to date. I 

require the full Furtado Transcripts along with the Marek Transcripts, with exhibits, in order to 
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meaningfully respond to the out-of-context and incomplete excerpts that were “cherry-picked” for 

inclusion in the Collins Affidavit. 

A. Allegations Regarding Improper Benefits 

40. The Commission has alleged that I improperly received benefits (through Furtado 

Holdings) that were not disclosed to the 23 unitholders of Adelaide LP (the “Adelaide 

Unitholders”). I deny with this allegation. 

(i) Background to Acquisition of Adelaide Properties 

41. In early April 2019, Adelaide LP acquired the downtown Toronto properties known 

municipally as 355 Adelaide Street West and 46 Charlotte Street (the “Charlotte Property”) 

(together, the “Adelaide Properties”), the rights to which it acquired from Adelaide Square 

Developments Inc. (“ASD”). The total acquisition cost of the Adelaide Properties to Adelaide LP 

at closing was $74.25 million, which included the payment of a $20.95 million assignment fee (the 

“Assignment Fee”) to ASD. 

42. The Adelaide Properties were brought to my attention by Alfredo Malanca (“Malanca”) 

in order about early 2018. Malanca is the sole officer and director of Goldmount Financial Group 

Corporation (“GFGC”). Malanca’s spouse, Katarzyna Pikula, is the sole officer and director of 

Goldmount Capital Inc. (together with GFGC, “Goldmount”) and of AKM Holdings Inc. 

(“AKM”). Goldmount has assisted with the mortgage financing for several of the Go-To projects, 

including the Adelaide LP. 

43. I note that I have been actively engaged in terminating all business dealings with Malanca 

since Spring 2021.  
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(ii) No Failure to Disclose Benefits 

44. The Commission incorrectly alleges that ASD improperly issued shares and made 

payments in the aggregate amount of $6,388,087.33 to each of Furtado Holdings and AKM and 

that I improperly failed to disclose the issuance of such shares or payments to the Adelaide 

Unitholders.  

45. It is correct that Furtado Holdings received a cheque dated April 15, 2019, from Concorde 

Law for $388,087.33 (the “$388K Dividend”). However, I do not agree with the Commission’s 

allegation that the $388K Dividend was improper or required disclosure.  

46. This amount was paid to Furtado Holdings for assuming the risk of losing a non-refundable 

deposit made by the Adelaide LP on behalf of ASD with respect to the acquisition of 355 Adelaide 

Street West for an extension prior to the closing date.   

47. It is also correct that Furtado Holdings received a $6 million dividend from ASD (the “$6M 

Dividend”). However, I do not agree with the Commission’s allegation that the $6M Dividend 

was improper or required disclosure. The $6M Dividend originated and was paid to me outside of 

the Adelaide LP structure.  

48. During my interviews and in many of the written communications with Staff, the 

Commission was provided with a full explanation regarding the acquisition of the Adelaide 

Properties. I have, at all times, answered all of the questions that were posed to me my staff, and 

at no time have I withheld information or misled Staff in any manner whatsoever. The Commission 

has chosen not to disclose the relevant details that provide the full context, circumstances, and 

bases upon which the $388K Dividend and the $6M Dividend were paid.  
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49. In addition, I note that my conduct in receiving the $388K Dividend and the $6M Dividend 

was entirely consistent with my obligations under the Limited Partnership Agreement dated April 

4, 2019 in respect of the Adelaide Property (the “Adelaide LP Agreement”), which expressly 

contemplated and authorized outside activities of the type that led to the $388K Dividend and the 

$6M Dividend.  Specifically, section 10.6 of the Adelaide LP Agreement provides as follows: 

“10.6 Competing Interests. Each Unitholder and the shareholders, officers, directors and 
employees of the General Partner and its Affiliates shall be entitled, without the consent of 
the other parties, to carry on any business of the same nature as, or competing with that of, 
the Partnership, and is not liable to account to the other Unitholders or the Partnership 
therefor. It is further acknowledged and agreed that the directors, officers and employees 
of the General Partner will not act exclusively for the Partnership, and, consequently, the 
directors, officers and employees of the General Partner will only devote as much time as 
is necessary (but not all of his or her full time) to supervise the management of the business 
and affairs of the Partnership. 

The Unitholders acknowledge and agree that the shareholders, directors and officers of the 
General Partner are not in any way limited or affected in their ability to carry on other 
business ventures for their own account or the account of others, and may be engaged in in 
a wide range of transactions, investments and other business activities, which may include, 
direct and/or indirect, acquisition, ownership and operation of businesses which compete 
with the Partnership. The Unitholders acknowledge and waive any rights to which they 
might otherwise be entitled as partners of the Partnership to invest in any other property or 
venture of the shareholders, directors and officers of the General Partner, or to profit 
therefrom or to any interest therein. The Unitholders acknowledge and agree that: 

(a) if an investment opportunity does not arise solely from a director's or officer's activities 
on behalf of the General Partner, the directors and officers of the General Partner have no 
obligation to offer the investment opportunity to the Partnership; and 

(b) the General Partner has the discretion to determine whether the Partnership will avail 
itself of the investment opportunity and, if it does not, any of the directors and officers of 
the General Partner shall be able to decide amongst themselves whether to pursue the 
opportunity for their respective accounts.” 

50. Attached as Exhibit “N” hereto is a copy of the Adelaide LP Agreement. 

51. The Collins Affidavit is rife with incorrect statements. For example, the Collins Affidavit 

refers to a demand loan agreement dated April 4, 2019 for $19.8 million between the Adelaide LP 
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as the borrower and ASD as the lender (the “Demand Loan”). The Commission alleges that I 

improperly authorized the registration of a $19.8 million charge against the Properties on behalf 

of ASD as security for the Demand Loan.  This is entirely false; I did not authorize registration of 

the charge and had no prior knowledge of it.   

52. In addition, I disagree entirely with Marek’s characterization of the events that led to his 

$12 million investment on September 26, 2019. Prior to making that investment, Marek was fully 

aware of the structure and financials of the original purchase that was shared with him when he 

invested the original $16.8 million, which was subsequently returned.  

53. Marek is a sophisticated, experienced and seasoned real-estate investor and residential land 

developer, and it strains credulity for the Commission to suggest that Marek truly believed the $12 

million investment was to be used for development charges. Marek was provided with the limited 

partnership agreement on various occasions, and was aware that the mandate of the LP was to sell 

the property prior to construction, which would mean that no development charges would ever be 

paid by Adelaide LP. The Collins Affidavit has also chosen to omit the important fact that Marek 

invested a further $1 million after the $12 million investment, and failed to disclose Marek’s 

explanation for investing the further $1 million. Attached as Exhibit “O” is a copy of Marek’s 

biography, demonstrating his decades of experience in property development.    

(iii) No Improper Use of Proceeds 

54. The Commission incorrectly alleges that I improperly used proceeds of the $6 million 

Furtado Holdings received from ASD in October 2019 to, among other things, make personal 

investments and to provide funds to other Go-To Developments LPs. 
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55. First of all, I do not believe that the $6M Dividend was improper. As noted above, the 

dividend originated and was paid to me outside of the Adelaide LP structure. It had no impact on 

the purchase price in respect of the Adelaide Property either before or after the acquisition date, 

and was fully disclosed to Adelaide Unitholders.  

56. As such, I do not believe that my uses of the proceeds of the $6M Dividend are relevant to 

this proceeding. However, to the extent such uses are relevant, it is noteworthy – and known to the 

Commission – that since the beginning of the Dividend Period (as defined in the Collins Affidavit) 

I have injected approximately $5.75 million into Go-To Developments and the LPs that required 

funds. It is unclear to me why the Commission would not have disclosed this fact in the Collins 

Affidavit. The Collins Affidavit references the amount of $3.265 million, which is incorrect.  

57. The Commission also claims that I used Go-To Developments’ funds to pay outstanding 

amounts on my personal Visa card. Once again, it is disappointing that the Commission has failed 

to tell the whole story in this regard. The Commission is well aware that a large amount of Visa 

expenses were business-related, including legal fees in particular, as the Commission has 

previously been provided with this explanation as well as copies of the relevant Visa statements. 

58. The Commission alleges that, if left in control of Go-To Developments, I would “bleed” 

the business. This is, quite frankly, absurd. Since its founding in February of 2016, I have never 

collected a salary from the business, and contrary to the Commission’s allegations, I have not taken 

a “guarantee fee” since June 2019.  

59. With respect to the Commission’s allegations that I am prejudicing the LPs by collecting 

administration fees, this is also demonstrably false. Administrative fees have only ever been paid 
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(in accordance with the limited partnership agreements) to GTDH, not me personally. Moreover, 

these fees were only paid when an LP was in a position to do so. Where a LP did not have cash, 

the administrative fees have simply accrued. 

(iv) Cross-Collateralization 

60. Finally, the Commission alleges that I improperly: (i) pledged the assets of two other LPs 

to secure obligations of Adelaide LP in relation to the acquisition of the Adelaide Properties in 

contravention of the relevant limited partnership agreements, and (ii) failed to disclose such 

pledges to the Investors in those LPs on a timely basis. 

61. Specifically, the Commission alleges that I improperly signed a memorandum of 

understanding dated April 3, 2019 (the “MOU”) on behalf of the Adelaide LP and Adelaide GP, 

myself, and on behalf of Go-To Stoney Creek Elfrida LP (the “Elfrida LP”) and Go-To Stoney 

Creek Elfrida Inc. (the “Elfrida GP”). 

62. Under the MOU, the Elfrida GP and Elfrida LP are guarantors of obligations of the 

Adelaide LP, as set out in that agreement. Among other things in the MOU, the Elfrida GP and 

Elfrida LP agreed to the registration of a $7.15 million collateral charge on the Elfrida LP’s 

property. 

63. The Commission also alleges that I improperly caused the Eagle Valley LP and Go-To 

Niagara Falls Eagle Valley Inc. to agree to the registration of a $13,712,500 charge (the 

“Scarecrow Charge”) on the Eagle Valley LP’s property as collateral for Scarecrow in respect of 

its mortgage loan to the Adelaide LP.  
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64. Staff has been aware of the MOU and the Scarecrow Charge since at least as early as 

September 24, 2020. In addition, the Scarecrow Charge was transferred and subsequently removed 

from title by the transferee on April 1, 2021 without any negative impact whatsoever on the 

Investors.  I do not understand how the Commission can now rely on the MOU or the Scarecrow 

Charge as a basis for an “urgent” receivership. 

65. Similarly, the Collins Affidavit refers to a Memorandum of Understanding dated April 3, 

2019, between parties that include ASD and FAAN Mortgage Administrators Inc. (“FAAN”). 

FAAN was the Court-appointed trustee of one of the mortgage holders on the Charlotte Property. 

FAAN registered a $7.15 million charge (the “FAAN Charge”) against the Elfrida LP’s property 

on April 5, 2019.  

66. The FAAN Charge was removed from title on November 9, 2021. Moreover, there was no 

negative impact whatsoever on the Investors by any of these events. 

B. Allegations Regarding Attempts to Mislead Staff 

67. The Commission has alleged that I attempted to conceal information from and gave 

conflicting and misleading evidence to Staff.  

68. As noted above, I do not have access to certain evidence upon which the Commission relies 

heavily in its Application Record, namely, the complete Furtado Transcripts and Marek 

Transcripts, and the exhibits thereto. However, based on my review of the excerpts included in the 

Collins Affidavit as well as my recollection of the interviews themselves, it is clear to me that the 

Commission “cherry-picked” certain of my statements for inclusion in the Collins Affidavit and 
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deliberately failed to include the surrounding statements, which provided context and legitimate 

explanations. 

69. I have at all times answered the questions posed of me by Staff. Throughout its 

investigation, Staff has consistently failed to provide me with an opportunity to review documents 

in advance of asking questions on any of the events discussed in its Application. In each instance 

where I was not able to provide a detailed answer immediately to Staff, I have routinely 

subsequently provided a fulsome explanation and detailed information after having an opportunity 

to review and consider the relevant information and documents.  

VII. CONCLUSION 

A. No Urgency to Application 

70. I do not believe that there was any urgency to the Commission’s Application for the 

Receivership Order.  As of the time of the Hearing, all or nearly all of the information and facts 

upon which the Commission bases its Application were known to the Commission for well over a 

year. In any event, many months had passed since the Commission had become aware of any new 

information regarding Go-To Developments and its business, with absolutely no new information 

being relied upon to bring the Application on such short notice.  

71. I must reiterate my view that it was simply not possible for me to have properly and fairly 

responded to the Application given the timelines, my need to engage new counsel, the extremely 

voluminous materials, and the refusal by the Commission to provide me with the Furtado 

Transcripts and Marek Transcripts, including the exhibits.  
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77. Finally, I believe that the balance of convenience favours a stay of the Order, particularly 

with the proposed terms that were put forward to Justice Pattillo at the Hearing.  

78. In summary, I do not agree with many of the Commission’s allegations, and I believe that, 

had Go-To Developments been provided with sufficient time to properly respond to the 

Application, the Receivership Order would not have been granted. Furthermore, there was no 

urgency to the hearing of the Application, particularly in light of the interim safeguards proposed 

by my counsel.  

79. I swear this affidavit in support of the Motion of the Moving Parties for a stay of the 

Receivership Order, and for no other or improper purpose or delay.  

SWORN before me at the City of 
Mississauga, in the Province of Ontario, 
this th day of December, 2021 in 
accordance with O. Reg. 431/20, 
Administering Oath or Declaration 
Remotely. 
 
 

 
 

  

OSCAR FURTADO 

Commissioner for Taking Affidavits 
Monica Faheim 
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L. A. PATTILLO J 
 
[1] On December 6, 2021, the Ontario Securities Commission (the “Commission”) issued two 
freeze directions under s. 126(1) of the Securities Act, R.S.O. 1990 c.s.5 (the “Act”) which require 
the respondent Oscar Furtado (“Furtado”) to maintain and refrain from imperiling assets derived 
from investor funds and require RBC Direct Investing to maintain the assets in Furtado’s RBC 
Direct Account.  

[2] The Commission brings this application to continue those directions and for the 
appointment of KSV Restructuring Inc. as receiver and manager of the respondent Go-To entities. 

[3] At the outset of the hearing, Furtado requested a short adjournment to permit him to retain 
new counsel (Mr. Mann appears on a limited retainer) and file responding material. He submitted, 
notwithstanding the Commission’s Staff’s investigation has been ongoing since March 2019, he 
was only advised of this proceeding on Monday and did not receive the Commission’s material 
until Monday evening. He disagrees with the Commission’s allegations, particularly that he misled 
Staff during the investigation and wants to respond. Nothing in the Commission’s material 
indicates anything precipitous was about to happen. 

[4] In support of his request, Furtado has offered terms including continuing the freeze 
directions (with some access for living expenses and legal fees), production of the investigation 
transcripts and the appointment of a monitor as opposed to a receiver at the Commission’s expense.   

[5] The Commission opposed the request. It submitted that a monitor would not be sufficient 
as it would leave Furtado in charge. Rather, in light of the record, a receiver was necessary to 
safeguard the interests of the investors. Further, while it could have proceeded ex parte under s. 
129 of the Act, it gave Furtado notice and sufficient time to file material if required. In that regard, 
in the absence of material, many of Furtado’s submissions were unsubstantiated. 

[6] Based on the allegations concerning Furtado’s actions in respect of his dealings with the 
Go-To projects and specifically the Go-To Spadina Adelaide Square Limited Partnership. 
(“Adelaide LP”) as set out in the Commission’s material and which I will address shortly, I was 
satisfied, despite the length of time the Commission’s investigation has been ongoing, that it was 
necessary having regard to the interests of the investors to deal with the application rather than 
adjourn it to a future date and leave Furtado in charge. I also was of the view that Furtado had 
sufficient notice to file material. 

[7] Accordingly, I dismissed Furtado’s adjournment request.  

[8] Furtado is the founder and directing mind of the Go-To entities which are limited 
partnerships. Between 2016 and 2020, Furtado and the respondent Go-To Developments Holdings 
Inc. (GTDH) raised almost $80 million from Ontario investors for nine Go-To real estate projects 
by selling limited partnership units. The projects are not complete, and the investors’ funds remain 
outstanding. 

[9]  One of the projects is Adelaide LP, whose business is described as purchasing, holding an 
interest in, conducting pre-development planning with respect to development and construction of 
two properties, 355 Adelaide St. W. and 46 Charlotte Street in downtown Toronto (the 
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“Properties”). Beginning in February 2019, Furtado began to raise capital for Adelaide LP by 
selling units. 

[10] The Adelaide LP agreement provides that investors would be paid returns pro-rata, after 
all investors received a return of their capital. It also provides no investor could require return of 
any capital contributions back until the dissolution, winding up or liquidation of the partnership. 

[11] The purchase rights to the Properties were secured by Adelaide Square Developments Inc. 
(ASD) a company owned, in part, by AKM Holdings Corp. (AKM) which was in turn owned by 
the wife of Alfredo Malanca (Malanca).  Furtado negotiated the Adelaide LP’s acquisitions of the 
Properties with Malanca as a representative of ASD.  

[12] In late March, early April 2019, Adelaide LP and ASD entered into agreements whereby 
ASD assigned the purchase and sale agreements for the properties to Adelaide LP (the purchase 
price for the Properties was $53.3 million plus a density bonus on one of the properties). They also 
entered into an Assignment Fee agreement which provided Adelaide LP would pay ASD an 
assignment fee of $20.95 million. Adelaide LP paid the assignment fee from investors monies. 

[13] At the same time, Furtado pledged the assets of two other Go-To LP’s to secure Adelaide 
LP obligations contrary to the LP agreements and without notice to any of the unit holders.  

[14] On April 4, 2019, Adelaide LP entered into a demand loan agreement with ASD for $19.8 
million. The proceeds were paid by ASD to an investor in Adelaide LP for its redemption of $16.8 
million units and a $2.7 million flat fee return and $300,000 to Goldmount Financial Group Corp. 
(Goldmount), a mortgage brokerage in which Malanca is a director, as a referral fee for introducing 
the investor. 

[15] On April 15, 2019, the respondent Furtado Holdings Inc. and AKM each received from 
ASD 11 shares of ASD and $388,087.33 paid by ASD out of the assignment fee.  

[16] On September 19 to 30, 2019, Furtado raised $13.25 million for Adelaide LP from four 
investors. On October 1, 2019, Adelaide LP paid ASD $12 million on the demand loan although 
no payment was due or demand made. On the same day, ASD paid both Furtado Holdings and 
AKM a “dividend” of $6 million each. Furtado denied that he planned to profit on Adelaide LP’s 
purchase of the Properties and said that ASD decided to give Furtado Holdings “a thank you”. 

[17] By August 2020, Furtado Holdings had used the bulk of the $6 million dividend to transfer 
$2.25 million to Furtado’s personal bank account and loan or otherwise transfer approximately 
$3.265 million to every Go-To General Partner (GP), GTDH and Go-To Developments 
Acquisitions Inc. The Commission states it appears the transfers to the GPs were spent on operating 
costs and payments due to LP investors.  

[18] Further, from Furtado’s bank account, approximately $2.026 million was transferred to his 
RBC Direct Investing account in close proximity to the transfers received from Furtado Holdings.  

[19] In addition to the above events involving Adelaide LP, Furtado and ASD, the Commission 
also submits that Furtado misled Staff during its investigation in respect of some of the answers 
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he gave. As noted, Furtado denies that allegation and submits that he co-operated with Staff and 
answered all of their questions. 

[20] Section 129(1) and (2) of the Act gives the court the discretion, on application by the 
Commission, to appoint a receiver and manager of the property of any person or company where: 
(a) it is in the best interests of the creditors, security holders, or subscribers of such person or 
company; or (b) it is appropriate for the due administration of securities law.  

[21] In Ontario Securities Commission v. Sextant Strategic Opportunities Hedge Fund L.P., 
2009 CanLII38503 (ONSC) at para. 54, Morawetz J. (as he then was) emphasized that the analysis 
of the “best interests” of the creditors and security holders in s. 129 is broader than the solvency 
test. Instead the court should consider “all the circumstances and whether, in the context of those 
circumstances, it is in the best interests of creditors that a receiver be appointed. The criteria should 
also take into account the interests of all stakeholders.” 

[22] In my view, having regard to all the circumstances, I am satisfied based on the 
Commission’s evidence of Furtado’s dealings in respect of Adelaide LP that it is in the best 
interests of the investors in the Go-To projects that a receiver be appointed to ensure that the Go-
To projects are managed in a proper fashion to protect the investors’ investments.  

[23] The Commission’s investigation has revealed evidence of undisclosed payments to Furtado 
arising from Adelaide LP’s purchase of the Properties, resulting in misappropriation and improper 
use of Adelaide LP funds through his dealings with ASD.  

[24] The Commission’s evidence establishes Furtado: 

a) Arranged to personally profit from Adelaide LP’s purchase of the Properties; 

b) Misused other Go-To LP assets to secure Adelaide LP’s acquisition of the 
Properties; and 

c) Gave false and/or misleading evidence to Staff about his dealings with ASD and 
Furtado Holdings’ receipt of shares and moneys from ASD. 

[25] While I acknowledge that Furtado disputes the Commission’s allegation that he mislead 
Staff, in my view his dealings in respect of Adelaide LP and the cross-collateralization are of great 
concern by themselves.   

[26] I agree with the Commission’s submission that the gravity of the potential breaches of the 
Act indicated by the evidence raises significant concerns about Furtado’s ability to operate in 
capital markets in a manner compliant with securities laws. 

[27] Accordingly, I am satisfied the Commission has met the requirements of s. 126 of the Act. 
The appointment of a receiver will ensure that the investors’ interests are protected and that the 
Go-To entities are properly administered. 

[28]  Furtado submits that the appointment of a receiver will be the “death knell” for the Go-To 
projects. It will result in defaults under the various Go-To LP loan agreements. The receivership 
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is not in respect of an insolvency. There is no reason that the various projects can not continue 
under the control of a receiver. Further, with a stay in place, none of the loan agreements can be 
placed in default.  

[29] Section 126(5.1) of the Act permits the court to continue a freeze direction where it is 
satisfied that such order would be reasonable and expedient in the circumstances, having due 
regard to the public interest and either (a) the due administration of Ontario securities law; or (b) 
the regulation of capital markets in Ontario. 

[30] In order to continue a freeze direction, the Commission must establish: (a) there is a serious 
issue to be tried in respect of the respondents’ breaches of the Act; (b) there is a basis to suspect, 
suggest or prove a connection between the frozen assets and the conduct in issue; and (c) the freeze 
directions are necessary for the due administration of securities laws or the regulation of capital 
markets, in Ontario or elsewhere: OSC v. Future Solar Developments, 2015 ONSC 2334 at para. 
31. 

[31]  In my view, the evidence establishes all three parts of the above test. There is at least a 
serious issue to be tried as to potential breaches of the act by Furtado and Furtado Holdings, 
including fraud; the directions freeze Furtado’s RBC Direct Account and any other assets he 
derived from investor funds. The evidence of Furtado’s uses of the $6 million dividend shows at 
least a basis to “suspect, suggest or prove” a connection between the assets frozen and the conduct 
in issue. Finally, continuation of the directions is necessary for the due administration of securities 
laws. They address inappropriate use of investor funds, dissipation of assets and preservation of 
assets.  

[32] The application is allowed. KSV is appointed as receiver and manager without security of 
the respondent Go-To entities and the directions are continued until withdrawn or altered by the 
Commission or further order of the court. 

[33] The Commission shall redact any personal information concerning any individual 
(excluding name, title, contact information or designation of business, profession or official 
capacity) contained in the exhibits to the affidavit filed in support of the application.  

 
 

 

 
L. A. Pattillo J. 

 
Released: December 10, 2021
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This is Exhibit “C” referred to in the Affidavit of Oscar Furtado 
sworn before me via video-conference with the deponent in the 
town of Oakville, and the Commissioner in the City of 
Mississauga, this 14th day of December, 2021 

 

Commissioner for Taking Affidavits (or as may be) 

MONICA FAHEIM  
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Court of Appeal File No. 
Court File No.: CV-21-00673521-00CL  

COURT OF APPEAL FOR ONTARIO 

BETWEEN:  

 
ONTARIO SECURITIES COMMISSION 

 
             Applicant 

(Respondent in Appeal) 
 

- and- 
 

GO-TO DEVELOPMENTS HOLDINGS INC., OSCAR FURTADO, FURTADO HOLDINGS 
INC., GO-TO DEVELOPMENTS ACQUISITIONS INC., GO-TO GLENDALE AVENUE 

INC., GO-TO GLENDALE AVENUE LP, GO-TO MAJOR MACKENZIE SOUTH BLOCK 
INC., GO-TO MAJOR MACKENZIE SOUTH BLOCK LP, GO-TO MAJOR MACKENZIE 
SOUTH BLOCK II INC., GO-TO MAJOR MACKENZIE SOUTH BLOCK II LP, GO-TO 

NIAGARA FALLS CHIPPAWA INC., GO-TO NIAGARA FALLS CHIPPAWA LP, GO-TO 
NIAGARA FALLS EAGLE VALLEY INC., GO-TO NIAGARA FALLS EAGLE VALLEY LP, 
GO-TO SPADINA ADELAIDE SQUARE INC., GO-TO SPADINA ADELAIDE SQUARE LP, 
GO-TO STONEY CREEK ELFRIDA INC., GO-TO STONEY CREEK ELFRIDA LP, GO-TO 

ST. CATHARINES BEARD INC., GO-TO ST. CATHARINES BEARD LP, GO-TO 
VAUGHAN ISLINGTON AVENUE INC., GO-TO VAUGHAN ISLINGTON AVENUE LP, 

AURORA ROAD LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, and 2506039 ONTARIO LIMITED 

 

Respondents 

(Appellants in Appeal – Moving Party) 
 

APPLICATION UNDER SECTIONS 126 AND 129 OF THE SECURITIES ACT, R.S.O. 1990, c. 
S.5, AS AMENDED 

 
NOTICE OF APPEAL 

 THE APPELLANTS APPEAL to the Court of Appeal from the Order of the Honourable Justice 

Pattillo (the “Application Judge”) of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice (Commercial List), dated 

December 10, 2021 (the “Receivership Order”), inter alia, appointing KSV Restructuring Inc. (“KSV”) 

as receiver and manager (in such capacity, the “Receiver”) over the real property and all other assets, 

undertakings and properties (the “Property”) of the parties identified at Schedule “B” to the Receivership 

Order (the “Receivership Entities”).  
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 THE APPELLANTS ASK that:  

1. The Receivership Order be set aside and that the Application of the Ontario Securities Commission 

(the “Commission”) dated December 6, 2021 (the “Receivership Application”) be dismissed; 

2. In the alternative, the Receivership Order be set aside and a new hearing be ordered for the 

Receivership Application; 

3. An Order staying the Receivership Order pending the hearing of this appeal be granted;  

4. An Order abridging the time for service and the filing of this motion record, and factum, if 

necessary be granted;  

5. Costs of the proceedings below, the Appellants’ motion for an Order staying the Receivership 

Order  and this Appeal on a substantial indemnity basis; and  

6. Such further and other relief as counsel may request and that this Honourable Court deems just, 

including, without limitation, such interim protective measures as this Honourable Court considers 

appropriate in the circumstances. 

THE GROUNDS OF APPEAL are as follows:  

7. The Application Judge erred in law and fact:  

(a) In granting the Receivership Order; 

(b) In denying the adjournment request of the respondent, Oscar Furtado, in order to permit 

Mr. Furtado to retain independent counsel and file responding material addressing the very 

serious allegations made against him; 

(c) In considering the fact that the Commission could have proceeded ex parte in finding that 

sufficient notice was given;  
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(d) In finding that Mr. Furtado had sufficient time to meaningfully respond to the Receivership 

Application, despite the insufficient notice and voluminous Application Record of the 

Commission; 

(e) In denying the Appellants the opportunity to engage independent counsel to respond to the 

Receivership Application;  

(f) In refusing to grant the adjournment despite: 

(i) the Application Judge’s finding that there was no evidence in the Commission’s 

materials of any precipitous or imminent event that mandated the appointment of a receiver 

and manager; 

(ii)  the absence of evidence presented by the Commission as to why the Respondents 

could not or should not have been provided with additional time to deliver a fulsome 

responding Application Record; and 

(iii)  the absence of any explanation in the Commission’s Application Record as to why 

the Commission did not move for the Receivership Order at an earlier date; 

(g) In finding that the test for the appointment of a receiver under section 129 of the Securities 

Act (Ontario) was met in the circumstances;  

(h) In granting the appointment of the Receiver based on a fundamental misunderstanding of 

the facts and the evidence, including, without limitation, the finding that the evidence raises 

concerns as to Mr. Furtado’s ability to operate in capital markets in a manner compliant 

with securities laws;  
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(i) In failing to consider the devastating impact of the Receivership Order on the Appellants’ 

business operations; and 

(j) In exercising his discretion to grant the Receivership Order despite the availability of less 

intrusive means of addressing the concerns raised by the Commission, including the 

appointment of a monitor in parallel to the continuation of the freeze directions issued 

under section 126(1) of the Securities Act.  

8. The decision to appoint the Receiver was an error in law;  

9. The test for staying the Receivership Order pending appeal is met on the basis that it is in the 

interests of justice that the stay be granted and: 

(a) there is a serious question to be determined on appeal, namely whether the Receivership 

Order was an appropriate exercise of the Application Judge’s discretion in the 

circumstances and whether the test for the appointment of a receiver under section 129 of 

the Securities Act was met and the Appeal is not frivolous or vexatious;  

(b) absent a stay of the Receivership Order pending this appeal, the Appellants would suffer 

irreparable harm; and  

(c) the balance of convenience weighs in favour of staying the Receivership Order pending 

this appeal;  

10. Section 63.02 of the Rules of Civil Procedure; and 

11. Such further and other grounds as counsel may advise and this Court permit.  
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THE BASIS OF THE APPELLATE COURT’S JURISDICTION IS:   

12. Section 6(1)(b) of the Courts of Justice Act, R.S.O. 1990, as amended; 

13. The Receivership Order appealed from is a final order;  

14. Leave to appeal is not required; and   

15. No other facts are relevant to establishing jurisdiction. 

 

December 14, 2021  MILLER THOMSON LLP 
Scotia Plaza 
40 King Street West, Suite 5800 
P.O. Box 1011 
Toronto ON   M5H 3S1 
 
Gregory Azeff LSO#: 45324C 
Tel: 416.595.2660 
Email: gazeff@millerthomson.com 
 
Monica Faheim, LSO#: 82213R 
Tel: 416.597.6087  
Email: mfaheim@millerthomson.com  
 
Lawyers for the Appellants  
 

AND TO: ONTARIO SECURITIES COMMISSION 
20 Queen Street West, 22nd Floor 
Toronto, ON  M5H 3S8 
 
Erin Hoult LSO#:54002C 
Tel: 416.593.8290 
Email: ehoult@osc.gov.on.ca 
 
Braden Stepleton LSO#: 82537F 
Tel: 416.595.8903 
Email: bstapleton@osc.gov.on.ca 
 
Lawyers for the Ontario Securities Commission 
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AND TO: AIRD & BERLIS LLP 
181 Bay Street, Suite 1800 
Toronto, ON   M5J 2T9 
 
Ian Aversa  LSO #:55449N 
Tel: 416.865.3082 
Email: iaversa@airdberlis.com 
 
Steve Graff LSO #: 31871V 
Tel: 416.865.7726 
Email: sgraff@airdberlis.com 
 
Tamie Dolny LSO#: 77958U 
Tel: 647.426.2306 
Email: tdolny@airdberlis.com 
 
Lawyers for the Receiver, KSV Restructuring Inc. 
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ONTARIO SECURITIES COMMISSION 

 

and GO-TO DEVELOPMENTS HOLDINGS INC. et al  

 

Court of Appeal File No. 
Court File No: CV-21-00673521-00CL 

Applicant (Respondent in Appeal) 
 

 Respondents (Appellants in Appeal – Moving Party) 
 

 

 

 
 

 
COURT OF APPEAL FOR ONTARIO 

 
Proceeding Commenced at 

TORONTO 
 

 NOTICE OF APPEAL 

 

  
MILLER THOMSON LLP 
Scotia Plaza 
40 King Street West, Suite 5800 
Toronto, ON Canada  M5H 3S1 
 
Gregory Azeff LSO#: 45324C 
Tel: 416.595.2660 
Email: gazeff@millerthomson.com 
 
Monica Faheim, LSO#: 82213R 
Tel: 416.597.6087  
Email: mfaheim@millerthomson.com 
 
Lawyers for the Appellants 

RCP-F 4C (September 1, 2020) 
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This is Exhibit “D” referred to in the Affidavit of Oscar Furtado 
sworn before me via video-conference with the deponent in the 
town of Oakville, and the Commissioner in the City of 
Mississauga, this 14th day of December, 2021 

 

Commissioner for Taking Affidavits (or as may be) 

MONICA FAHEIM  
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This is Exhibit “E” referred to in the Affidavit of Oscar Furtado 
sworn before me via video-conference with the deponent in the 
town of Oakville, and the Commissioner in the City of 
Mississauga, this 14th day of December, 2021 

 

Commissioner for Taking Affidavits (or as may be) 

MONICA FAHEIM  
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This is Exhibit “F” referred to in the Affidavit of Oscar Furtado 
sworn before me via video-conference with the deponent in the 
town of Oakville, and the Commissioner in the City of 
Mississauga, this 14th day of December, 2021 

 

Commissioner for Taking Affidavits (or as may be) 

MONICA FAHEIM  
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Limited Partnership

Properties Owned

Municipal Address (PIN) Registered Owner(s) Current Registered Monetary Charges* Exhibit

Go-To Glendale Avenue LP 527 Glendale Avenue

St. Catharines, ON (46415-0949)

Go-To Glendale Avenue Inc./ LP 1. Meridian Credit Union ($1.15M) 

2. Reciprocal Opportunities Incorporated ($2.37M)

3. Trisura Guarantee Insurance Company ($4.1M)

Exhibit "103"

Go-To Major Mackenzie South Block LP Major MacKenzie Drive East

Richmond Hill, ON

1. 185 Major MacKenzie (03139-0047)

2. 197 Major MacKenzie (03139-0049)

3. 209 Major MacKenzie (03139-0051)

Go-To Major MacKenzie South Block Inc. 1. Cameron Stephens Financial Corporation ($6.5M)

2. GOH, et al. ($1.75M)

Exhibit "104"

Go-To Major Mackenzie South Block II LP Major MacKenzie Drive East

Richmond Hill, ON

1. 191 Major MacKenzie (03139-0048)

2. 203 Major MacKenzie (03139-0050)

3. 215 Major MacKenzie (03139-0052)

Go-To Major MacKenzie South Block II Inc. 1. Cameron Stephens Financial Corporation ($6.5M)

2. GOH, et al . ($1.75M)

Exhibit "105"

Go-To Niagara Falls Chippawa LP Lyons Creek Road

Niagara Falls, ON

1. 4210 Lyons Creek (64258-0110)

2. 4248 Lyons Creek (64258-0713)

Go-To Niagara Falls Chippawa Inc./ LP Green Leaf Financial Limited ($2.425M) Exhibit "106"

Go-To Niagara Falls Eagle Valley LP 2334 St. Paul Avenue

Niagara Falls, ON (64269-0559)

Go-To Niagara Falls Eagle Valley Inc./ LP 1. Trisura Guarantee Insurance Company ($2.65M) 

2. Imperio SA Holdings Inc. et al . ($3M)

3. Lesdow, Peter ($200K)

4. Menard Canada Inc. ($338,355.91)

Exhibit "107"

Go-To Spadina Adelaide Square LP 1. 355 Adelaide Street West

Toronto, ON (21412-0150)

2. 46 Charlotte Street

Toronto, ON (21412-0151)

Go-To Spadina Adelaide Square Inc./ LP 1. Cameron Stephens Mortgage Capital Ltd. ($56.275M)

2. Northridge Maroak Developments Inc. ($18.489M)

3. Adelaide Square Developments Inc. ($19.8M)

Exhibit "108"

Go-To Stoney Creek Elfrida LP 1. Highland Road

Hamilton, ON (17376-0025) 

2. Upper Centennial Parkway

Hamilton, ON (17376-0111)

Go-To Stoney Creek Elfrida Inc./ LP 1. Podesta Group Inc. et al. ($10.65M)

2. 2106622 Ontario Ltd. et al. ($1,689,274)

Exhibit "109"

Go-To St. Catharines Beard LP 19 Beard Place

St. Catharines, ON (46265-0022)

Go-To St Catharines Beard Inc./ LP 1. Prudential Property Management Inc. ($750K)

2. Imperio SA Holdings Inc. et al. ($3M)

Exhibit "110"

Go-To Vaughan Islington Avenue LP 7386 Islington Avenue

Vaughan, ON (03222-0909)

Go-To Vaughan Islington Avenue Inc./ LP Dorr Capital Corporation ($10M) Exhibit "111"

Aurora Road Limited Partnership 4951 Aurora Road

Stouffville, ON (03691-0193)

2506039 Ontario Limited Hillmount Capital Mortgage Holdings Inc. ($2.125M)** Exhibit "112"

Notes

* As of November 24, 2021.

** Unquantified charges (e.g. non-assignment of rent) are not listed. Cross-collateral charges are listed.

*** Note that this charge is registered against this property as well as properties belonging to this partnership's joint venture partners.

Appendix "A" - Go-To Limited Partnerships' Properties*
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This is Exhibit “G” referred to in the Affidavit of Oscar Furtado 
sworn before me via video-conference with the deponent in the 
town of Oakville, and the Commissioner in the City of 
Mississauga, this 14th day of December, 2021 

 

Commissioner for Taking Affidavits (or as may be) 

MONICA FAHEIM  

 
 

92



 

Ontario  Commission des  22nd Floor  22e étage 
Securities  valeurs mobilières 20 Queen Street West 20, rue queen ouest 
Commission de l’Ontario  Toronto ON M5H 3S8 Toronto ON M5H 3S8 

 

 

 
IN THE MATTER OF THE SECURITIES ACT 

R.S.O. 1990, c. S.5, AS AMENDED 
 

- AND -  
 

IN THE MATTER OF GO-TO DEVELOPMENTS HOLDINGS INC.,  
OSCAR FURTADO, and FURTADO HOLDINGS INC. 

 
 

FREEZE DIRECTION 
(Sections 126(1)(b) and 126(1)(c))  

 
 
 
 

TO: Oscar Furtado (DOB: July 15, 1962) 
 2354 Salcome Drive 
 Oakville, Ontario 
 L6H 7N3 
  
 
RE: Proceeds of sale of units of Go-To limited partnerships 
 
 
 TAKE NOTICE THAT pursuant to paragraph 126(1)(b) of the Securities Act, R.S.O. 1990, 
c. S.5, as amended (the “Act”), you are directed to refrain from withdrawing any funds, securities or 
property: that constitute or are derived from the proceeds of, or are otherwise related to the sale of 
units in any limited partnership related to Go-To Developments Holdings Inc. (“GTDH”), from 
another person or company who has them on deposit, under control or for safekeeping; and, without 
limiting the generality of the foregoing, in RBC Direct Investing account no. 685-92809-2-4 (“RBC 
Direct Account”); and to hold these funds, securities or property until the Ontario Securities 
Commission in writing revokes or varies this Direction or consents to release a particular fund, 
securities or property from this Direction or until the Ontario Superior Court of Justice orders 
otherwise. 
 
 AND TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that pursuant to paragraph 126(1)(c) of the Act, you are 
directed to maintain funds, securities or property: that constitute or are derived from the proceeds 
of, or are otherwise related to the sale of units in any limited partnership related to GTDH; and, 
without limiting the generality of the foregoing, in the RBC Direct Account; and you are directed to 
refrain from disposing of, transferring, dissipating or otherwise dealing with or diminishing the value 
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of those funds, securities or property until the Ontario Securities Commission in writing revokes or 
varies this Direction or consents to release a particular fund, security or property from this Direction 
or until the Ontario Superior Court of Justice orders otherwise, except that you may dispose of 
securities or derivatives already held in the RBC Direct Account provided that any disposition occurs 
through the facilities of a recognized exchange and all proceeds of such sales are maintained in the 
RBC Direct Account. 
 
 
DATED at Toronto, Ontario this 6th day of December, 2021. 
 
 

“Timothy Moseley” 
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Ontario  Commission des  22nd Floor  22e étage 
Securities  valeurs mobilières 20 Queen Street West 20, rue queen ouest 
Commission de l’Ontario  Toronto ON M5H 3S8 Toronto ON M5H 3S8 

 

 

 
IN THE MATTER OF THE SECURITIES ACT 

R.S.O. 1990, c. S.5, AS AMENDED 
 

- AND -  
 
 

IN THE MATTER OF GO-TO DEVELOPMENTS HOLDINGS INC.,  
OSCAR FURTADO, and FURTADO HOLDINGS INC. 

 
 

FREEZE DIRECTION 
(Section 126(1)(a)) 

 
 
 

TO: The Manager 
 RBC Direct Investing Inc. 
 200 Bay Street 
 P.O. Box 75 
 Toronto, ON  M5J 2Z5 
 
 
RE: FURTADO, Oscar 
 Account No.  685-92809-2-4  
                       (CAD and USD) 
 
  
 TAKE NOTICE that pursuant to paragraph 126(1)(a) of the Securities Act, R.S.O. 1990, 
c. S. 5, as amended (the "Act"), RBC Direct Investing Inc. (“RBC Direct”) is directed to retain any 
funds, securities or property that it has on deposit or under its control or for safekeeping in the name 
of or otherwise under the control of Oscar Furtado, including any funds, securities or property on 
deposit in account no. 685-92809-2-4 (the “Account”), and hold the funds, securities or property 
until the Ontario Securities Commission in writing revokes or varies this Direction or consents to 
release a particular fund, securities or property from this Direction or until the Ontario Superior 
Court of Justice orders otherwise, with the exception that securities or derivatives already held in the 
Account may be sold provided that any disposition occurs through the facilities of a recognized 
exchange and all proceeds of such sales are maintained in the Account. 
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 AND TAKE FURTHER NOTICE THAT this Direction applies to any and all funds, 
securities or property in a recognized clearing agency and to any and all securities in the process of 
transfer by a transfer agent. 
 
 AND TAKE FURTHER NOTICE THAT this Direction may be served by e-mail, fax or 
courier to the above-noted address for and the last known address of the parties named in this 
Direction in the records of RBC Direct. 
 
DATED at Toronto, Ontario this 6th day of December, 2021. 
 
 
 

“Timothy Moseley” 
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This is Exhibit “H” referred to in the Affidavit of Oscar Furtado 
sworn before me via video-conference with the deponent in the 
town of Oakville, and the Commissioner in the City of 
Mississauga, this 14th day of December, 2021 

 

Commissioner for Taking Affidavits (or as may be) 

MONICA FAHEIM  
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From: Erin Hoult <EHoult@osc.gov.on.ca>
Sent: December 6, 2021 3:35 PM
To: Darryl T. Mann <dmann@torkinmanes.com>; Michael Hanley <mhanley@torkinmanes.com>
Cc: Steve Graff <sgraff@airdberlis.com>; Ian Aversa <iaversa@airdberlis.com>
Subject: Dec. 9, 2021 Commercial List Hearing – OSC v. GTDH et al.
Importance: High

This is an external email.

Dear Counsel:
 
I am writing to advise that the Ontario Securities Commission is bringing an application which is returnable December 9, 
2021 at 2 p.m., via Zoom, before the Commercial List.  
 
The respondents to the application, which is to be issued, are: Go-To Developments Holdings Inc., Oscar Furtado, 
Furtado Holdings Inc., Go-To Developments Acquisitions Inc., Go-To Glendale Avenue Inc., Go-To Glendale Avenue LP, 
Go-To Major Mackenzie South Block Inc., Go-To Major Mackenzie South Block LP, Go-To Major Mackenzie South Block 
II Inc., Go-To Major Mackenzie South Block II LP, Go-To Niagara Falls Chippawa Inc., Go-To Niagara Falls Chippawa LP, 
Go-To Niagara Falls Eagle Valley Inc., Go-To Niagara Falls Eagle Valley LP, Go-To Spadina Adelaide Square Inc., Go-To 
Spadina Adelaide Square LP, Go-To Stoney Creek Elfrida Inc., Go-To Stoney Creek Elfrida LP, Go-To St. Catharines 
Beard Inc., Go-To St. Catharines Beard LP, Go-To Vaughan Islington Avenue Inc., Go-To Vaughan Islington Avenue LP, 
Aurora Road Limited Partnership, and 2506039 Ontario Limited.
 
The materials for the application are available electronically.  Please advise if you have instructions to accept service of 
same on behalf of the respondents.   
 
I can also advise that Staff of the Commission anticipate sending enforcement notices under separate cover in the next 
day or so.
 
Yours truly, 

Erin Hoult | Ontario Securities Commission | Enforcement | Senior Litigation Counsel 
20 Queen Street West, Suite 2200 | Toronto ON M5H 3S8
416-593-8290 | ehoult@osc.gov.on.ca
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This is Exhibit “I” referred to in the Affidavit of Oscar Furtado 
sworn before me via video-conference with the deponent in the 
town of Oakville, and the Commissioner in the City of 
Mississauga, this 14th day of December, 2021 

 

Commissioner for Taking Affidavits (or as may be) 

MONICA FAHEIM  
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Faheim, Monica

From: Darryl T.  Mann <dmann@torkinmanes.com>
Sent: Monday, December 6, 2021 7:08 PM
To: Erin Hoult
Cc: Steve Graff; Ian Aversa; Michael Hanley; Laura Beatty
Subject: RE: Dec. 9, 2021 Commercial List Hearing – OSC v. GTDH et al.

Importance: High

Ms. Hoult, 
 
Further to your email, below, we will accept service of the Application material on behalf of 
the Respondents that/who you have listed in your email. 
 
Our agreement to accept service is provided to you as a courtesy and without acknowledging 
the propriety of the proceeding or of the short notice that you are providing of Thursday’s 
Hearing and without us agreeing to go “on the record”. For the sake of certainty, the named 
Respondents assert and maintain any and all procedural and substantive rights and positions 
in this respect. 
 
On this basis, kindly forward the material to us as soon as possible. 
 
Regards, 

Darryl T.  Mann 
Legal Services provided through D.T. Mann Professional Corporation 
Tel: 416-777-5407 
Fax: 1-888-587-5767 
 

Torkin Manes LLP 
Barristers & Solicitors 

This email message, and any attachments, is intended only for the named recipient(s) above and may contain content that is privileged, confidential 
and/or exempt from disclosure under applicable law. If you have received this message in error, please notify the sender and delete this email message. 
Thank you. 
 

 
From: Erin Hoult <EHoult@osc.gov.on.ca>  
Sent: December 6, 2021 3:35 PM 
To: Darryl T. Mann <dmann@torkinmanes.com>; Michael Hanley <mhanley@torkinmanes.com> 
Cc: Steve Graff <sgraff@airdberlis.com>; Ian Aversa <iaversa@airdberlis.com> 
Subject: Dec. 9, 2021 Commercial List Hearing – OSC v. GTDH et al. 
Importance: High 
 
This is an external email. 

Dear Counsel: 
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This is Exhibit “J” referred to in the Affidavit of Oscar Furtado 
sworn before me via video-conference with the deponent in the 
town of Oakville, and the Commissioner in the City of 
Mississauga, this 14th day of December, 2021 

 

Commissioner for Taking Affidavits (or as may be) 

MONICA FAHEIM  
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Faheim, Monica

From: Darryl T.  Mann <dmann@torkinmanes.com>
Sent: Tuesday, December 7, 2021 2:20 PM
To: EHoult@osc.gov.on.ca
Cc: Laura Beatty
Subject: RE: OSC v. GTDH et al

Erin, 
 
I have reviewed your material. Kindly advise whether you would like to have a without 
prejudice discussion concerning Thursday’s Hearing. If so, I have some time for a call this 
afternoon. 
 
Please let me know.  
 
Thanks and regards, 
 

Darryl T.  Mann 
Legal Services provided through D.T. Mann Professional Corporation 
Tel: 416-777-5407 
Fax: 1-888-587-5767 

Torkin Manes LLP 
Barristers & Solicitors 

This email message, and any attachments, is intended only for the named recipient(s) above and may contain content that is privileged, confidential 
and/or exempt from disclosure under applicable law. If you have received this message in error, please notify the sender and delete this email message. 
Thank you. 
 

 
From: Erin Hoult via Proofpoint <SecureShareAdmin@proofpoint.com>  
Sent: December 6, 2021 7:21 PM 
To: Darryl T. Mann <dmann@torkinmanes.com> 
Subject: OSC v. GTDH et al 
 
This is an external email. 

 

2 FILE(S) 
SHARED 

 

377.4 MB 
TOTAL 

 

30 DAYS UNTIL 
EXPIRATION 

 

 

Erin Hoult has invited you to a new Secure Share  
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This is Exhibit “K” referred to in the Affidavit of Oscar Furtado 
sworn before me via video-conference with the deponent in the 
town of Oakville, and the Commissioner in the City of 
Mississauga, this 14th day of December, 2021 

 

Commissioner for Taking Affidavits (or as may be) 

MONICA FAHEIM  
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Court File No. ___________________ 
 

ONTARIO 
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE 

COMMERCIAL LIST 
 

B E T W E E N :  
 

ONTARIO SECURITIES COMMISSION 
 

Applicant 
 

- AND - 
 
 

GO-TO DEVELOPMENTS HOLDINGS INC., OSCAR FURTADO, FURTADO 
HOLDINGS INC., GO-TO DEVELOPMENTS ACQUISITIONS INC., GO-TO 

GLENDALE AVENUE INC., GO-TO GLENDALE AVENUE LP, GO-TO MAJOR 
MACKENZIE SOUTH BLOCK INC., GO-TO MAJOR MACKENZIE SOUTH BLOCK 

LP, GO-TO MAJOR MACKENZIE SOUTH BLOCK II INC., GO-TO MAJOR 
MACKENZIE SOUTH BLOCK II LP, GO-TO NIAGARA FALLS CHIPPAWA INC., 

GO-TO NIAGARA FALLS CHIPPAWA LP, GO-TO NIAGARA FALLS EAGLE 
VALLEY INC., GO-TO NIAGARA FALLS EAGLE VALLEY LP, GO-TO SPADINA 

ADELAIDE SQUARE INC., GO-TO SPADINA ADELAIDE SQUARE LP, GO-TO 
STONEY CREEK ELFRIDA INC., GO-TO STONEY CREEK ELFRIDA LP, GO-TO ST. 

CATHARINES BEARD INC., GO-TO ST. CATHARINES BEARD LP, GO-TO 
VAUGHAN ISLINGTON AVENUE INC., GO-TO VAUGHAN ISLINGTON AVENUE 
LP, AURORA ROAD LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, and 2506039 ONTARIO LIMITED 

 
Respondents 

 
APPLICATION RECORD 

(Returnable December 9, 2021) 
 

December 6, 2021 ONTARIO SECURITIES COMMISSION  
20 Queen Street West – 20th Floor 
Toronto, ON   M5H 3S8 
 
Erin Hoult 
LSO No. 54002C 
Tel.: (416) 593-8290 
Email: ehoult@osc.gov.on.ca 
 
Counsel for the Ontario Securities Commission 
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APPLICATION RECORD INDEX 
 

 

Tab Document PDF Page 
Range 

1 Notice of Application dated December 6, 2021 (to be issued) 1-13 

2 Affidavit of Stephanie Collins sworn December 6, 2021 1-33 

A Appendix “A” – Go-To Limited Partnerships’ Properties 34-35 

B Appendix “B” – Funds Raised from Investors for all Go-To Limited Partnerships  36-38 

C Appendix “C” – Funds Raised from Investors for the Adelaide LP 39-40 

D Appendix “D” – Excerpt from Draft Source and Application Analysis for Furtado 
Holdings Account in the Dividend Period 

41-45 

1  Exhibit 1 – Corporation Profile Report Re: Goldmount Financial Group 
Corporation  

46-51 

2  Exhibit 2 – Corporation Profile Report Re:  Goldmount Capital Inc. 52-57 

3  Exhibit 3 – Corporation Profile Report Re: AKM Holdings Corp. 58-61 

4  Exhibit 4 – Corporation Profile Report Re: Go-To Developments Holdings Inc. 62-66 

5  Exhibit 5 – Email dated April 18, 2019 from Torkin Manes to Staff Responding to 
Staff’s Enquiry Letter of March 20, 2019 

67-73 

6  Exhibit 6 – Go-To Developments Corporate Organizational Chart 74-75 

7  Exhibit 7 – Furtado Transcript Excerpts (pp. 9-10) 76-78 

8  Exhibit 8 – Furtado Transcript Excerpts (pp. 210-235, 344-345)  79-107 

9  Exhibit 9 – Investment Opportunity Re: Eagle Valley 108-127 

10  Exhibit 10 – Corporate Subscription Agreement Re: Eagle Valley  128-143 

11  Exhibit 11 – Individual Subscription Agreement Re: Eagle Valley 144-159 

12  Exhibit 12 – Investment Opportunity Re: Stoney Creek Elfrida 160-185 

13  Exhibit 13 – Corporate Subscription Agreement Re: Stoney Creek Elfrida 186-201 

107



Tab Document PDF Page 
Range 

14  Exhibit 14 – Individual Subscription Agreement Re: Stoney Creek Eflrida 202-217 

15  Exhibit 15 – Limited Partnership Agreement Re: Niagara Falls Eagle Valley 218-261 

16  Exhibit 16 – Limited Partnership Agreement Re: Glendale Avenue 262-305 

17  Exhibit 17 – Limited Partnership Agreement Re: Niagara Falls Chippawa 306-349 

18  Exhibit 18 – Limited Partnership Agreement Re: St. Catharines Beard  350-393 

19  Exhibit 19 – Limited Partnership Agreement Re: Stoney Creek Elfrida 394-438 

20  Exhibit 20 – Limited Partnership Agreement Re: Vaughan Islington Avenue  439-482 

21  Exhibit 21 – Limited Partnership Agreement Re: Major MacKenzie South Block 1 483-526 

22  Exhibit 22 – Limited Partnership Agreement Re: Major MacKenzie South Block 2  527-570 

23  Exhibit 23 – Limited Partnership Agreement Re: Spadina Adelaide 571-616 

24  Exhibit 24 – Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement Re: Aurora 
Road 

617-657 

25  Exhibit 25 – Email from Malanca attaching Adelaide Square Presentation Deck  658-699 

26  Exhibit 26 – Furtado Transcript Excerpts (pp. 32-46) 700-715 

27  Exhibit 27 – Corporation Point in Time Report and Corporation Profile Report Re: 
Adelaide Square Developments Inc. (ASD) 

716-731 

28  Exhibit 28 – Corporate Subscription Agreement Re: Adelaide LP 732-747 

29  Exhibit 29 – Individual Subscription Agreement Re: Adelaide LP 748-763 

30  Exhibit 30 – Brochure Re: Adelaide Square 764-807 

31  Exhibit 31 – Agreement of Purchase and Sale Re: 355 Adelaide St W., 
amendments thereto and assignment thereof  

808-837 

32  Exhibit 32 – Agreement of Purchase and Sale Re: 46 Charlotte Street, and 
assignment thereof 

838-859 

33  Exhibit 33 – Assignment Fee Agreement between ASD and the Adelaide LP 860-865 

34  Exhibit 34 – Memorandum of Understanding  866-893 
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Tab Document PDF Page 
Range 

35  Exhibit 35 – Direction Re: Disbursement of Funds 894-896 

36  Exhibit 36 – Written Answers from Furtado, dated July 24, 2020, to Questions 
from OSC Staff 

897-903 

37  Exhibit 37 – Re-Direction dated April 15, 2019 904-905 

38  Exhibit 38 – Corporation Profile report Re: West Maroak Developments Inc.  906-913 

39  Exhibit 39 – Marek Transcript Excerpts (pp. 25-31, 41-44, 73-74, 77-81, 84-85, 
157-158) 

914-936 

40  Exhibit 40 – Limited Partnership Agreement Re: Adelaide LP 937-978 

41  Exhibit 41 – Resolution of the Sole Director of Adelaide GP  979-982 

42  Exhibit 42 – RBC Business Account Statement Re: West Maroak Developments 
Inc. (March 29, 2019 to April 30, 2019) 

983-984 

43  Exhibit 43 – Cheque from Concorde Law to Furtado Holdings Inc. in the amount 
of $388,087.33 

985-987 

44  Exhibit 44 – Cheque from Concorde Law to AKM Holding Corp. in the amount of 
$388,087.33 

988-989 

45  Exhibit 45 – Furtado Transcript Excerpts (pp. 112-115, 111-119)  990-1003 

46  Exhibit 46 – Demand Loan Agreement between ASD and the Adelaide LP 1004-1011 

47  Exhibit 47 – Land Registry Documents Re: ASD Charge on Adelaide LP 
properties 

1012-1014 

48  Exhibit 48 – Articles of Amendment Re: ASD  1015-1020 

49  Exhibit 49 – ASD Share Certificate 1021-1022 

50  Exhibit 50 – Resolution of the Board of Directors of ASD 1023-1025 

51  Exhibit 51 – Subscription of ASD Shares dated April 15, 2019 1026-1027 

52  Exhibit 52 – Special Resolution of the Shareholders of ASD 1028-1033 

53  Exhibit 53 – Shareholders Agreement re ASD dated April 15, 2019 1034-1050 

54  Exhibit 54 – Marek Transcript Excerpts (pp. 84-85, 173-175) 1051-1056 
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Tab Document PDF Page 
Range 

55  Exhibit 55 – Furtado Transcript Excerpts (pp. 102-105) 1057-1061 

56  Exhibit 56 – Brochure Re: Adelaide Square 1062-1090 

57  Exhibit 57 – Marek Transcript Excerpts (pp. 104-105, 140, 175-179) 1091-1099 

58  Exhibit 58 – Furtado Transcript Excerpts (pp. 219-220) 1100-1102 

59  Exhibit 59 – Furtado Transcript Excerpts (pp. 216-219) 1103-1107 

60  Exhibit 60 – Marek Transcript Excerpts (pp. 206-210)  1108-1113 

61  Exhibit 61 – RBC Business Account Statement Re: Go-To Spadina Adelaide 
Square Inc. and supporting documentation 

1114-1122 

62  Exhibit 62 – Written Answers to Summons Provided by Furtado dated March 31, 
2021 (excerpt) 

1123-1124 

63  Exhibit 63 – Furtado Transcript Excerpts (pp. 120-123) 1125-1129 

64  Exhibit 64 – Memo Re: Direction Re Funds  1130-1131 

65  Exhibit 65 – RBC Business Account Statement Re: Furtado Holdings 1132-1134 

66  Exhibit 66 – Wire Payment Statement Re: AKM  1135-1136 

67  Exhibit 67 – T5 – Statement of Investment Income (2019) - AKM 1137-1139 

68  Exhibit 68 – T5 – Statement of Investment Income (2019) - Furtado Holdings 1140-1141 

69  Exhibit 69 – RBC Bank Account Statements Re: Furtado with supporting 
documents 

1142-1179 

70  Exhibit 70 – RBC Direct Investing Account Statements Re: Furtado 1180-1198 

71  Exhibit 71 – Furtado Transcript Excerpts (pp. 275-276, 85) 1199-1202 

72  Exhibit 72 – Furtado Transcript Excerpts (pp. 202-203) 1203-1205 

73  Exhibit 73 – Furtado Transcript Excerpts (p. 208) 1206-1207 

74  Exhibit 74 – Furtado Transcript Excerpts (pp. 259-262) 1208-1212 

75  Exhibit 75 – Furtado Transcript Excerpts (pp. 265-276) 1213-1225 
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Tab Document PDF Page 
Range 

76  Exhibit 76 – Written Answers to Summons Provided by Furtado 1226-1234 

77  Exhibit 77 – Memorandum of Agreement between ASD, the Adelaide LP, and 
Furtado dated March 26, 2019 

1235-1236 

78  Exhibit 78 – Memorandum of Agreement dated March 26, 2019 1237-1238 

79  Exhibit 79 – Redacted Copies of ASD Shareholding Documents and Re-Direction 
of Assignment Fee Provided to Staff by Furtado 

1239-1263 

80  Exhibit 80 – Furtado Transcript Excerpts (pp. 81-83, 92-98) 1264-1274 

81  Exhibit 81 – Furtado Transcript Excerpts (pp. 87-91) 1275-1280 

82  Exhibit 82 – Furtado’s Answers to Questions Taken Under Advisement from July 
2021 Examination 

1281-1283 

83  Exhibit 83 – Furtado Transcript Excerpts (pp. 84-85, 110) 1284-1287 

84  Exhibit 84 – Email chain between Malanca and Furtado 1288-1291 

85  Exhibit 85 – Email chain between Malanca and Furtado Re: Spadina Adelaide 
Land Proforma 

1292-1295 

86  Exhibit 86 – Email chain between Malanca and Furtado Re: Lift Analysis 1296-1299 

87  Exhibit 87 – Email chain between Malanca and Furtado Re: Numbers run using 
Louis spreadsheet 

1300-1304 

88  Exhibit 88 – Furtado Transcript Excerpts (pp. 149-201) 1305-1358 

89  Exhibit 89 – Furtado Transcript Excerpts (pp. 137-147) 1359-1370 

90  Exhibit 90 – Furtado Transcript Excerpts (pp. 201-205) 1371-1376 

91  Exhibit 91 – Marek Transcript Excerpts (pp. 44-55) 1377-1389 

92  Exhibit 92 – R. v. Malanca [2006] O.J. No. 1974 – Reasons for Sentence 1390-1430 

93  Exhibit 93 – R. v. Malanca (2007), 88 O.R. (3d) 570 (C.A.) 1431-1450 

94  Exhibit 94 – R. v. Malanca – SCC Case Summary 1451-1452 

95  Exhibit 95 – Project Management Agreement re: Adelaide LP dated July 31, 2020 1453-1489 
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Tab Document PDF Page 
Range 

96  Exhibit 96 – Correspondence and Draft Adelaide LP 2020 Financial Statements 1490-1503 

97  Exhibit 97 – Land Registry Documents Re: Charge by FAAN on Elfrida LP 
Property and Discharge thereof 

1504-1516 

98  Exhibit 98 – Land Registry Documents Re: Charge by Scarecrow on Eagle Valley 
Property 

1517-1542 

99  Exhibit 99 – Land Registry Documents Re: Transfer and Discharge of Scarecrow 
Charge on Eagle Valley 

1543-1546 

100  Exhibit 100 – Furtado Transcript Excerpts (pp. 77-81, 147-149, 284-288, 126-137) 1547-1572 

101  Exhibit 101 – Progress Report dated November 9, 2020 Re: Go-To Niagara Falls 
Eagle Valley Inc. 

1573-1574 

102  Exhibit 102 – Progress Report dated December 18, 2020 Re: Go-To Stoney Creek 
Elfrida Inc.  

1575-1577 

103  Exhibit 103 – Land Registry Documents Re: Go-To Glendale Avenue LP 1578-1600 

104  Exhibit 104 – Land Registry Documents Re: Go-To Major Mackenzie South Block 
LP 

1601-1653 

105  Exhibit 105 – Land Registry Documents Re: Go-To Major Mackenzie South Block 
II LP 

1654-1707 

106  Exhibit 106 – Land Registry Documents Re: Go-To Niagara Falls Chippawa LP 1708-1724 

107  Exhibit 107 – Land Registry Documents Re: Go-To Niagara Falls Eagle Valley LP 1725-1764 

108  Exhibit 108 – Land Registry Documents Re: Go-To Spadina Adelaide Square LP 1765-1828 

109  Exhibit 109 – Land Registry Documents Re: Go-To Stoney Creek Elfrida LP 1829-1844 

110  Exhibit 110 – Land Registry Documents Re: Go-To St. Catharines Beard LP 1845-1856 

111  Exhibit 111 – Land Registry Documents Re: Go-To Vaughan Islington Avenue LP 1857-1889 

112  Exhibit 112 – Land Registry Documents Re: Aurora Road Limited Partnership 1890-1932 

113  Exhibit 113 - RBC Business Account Statements Re: Furtado Holdings Inc.  1933-1958 

3 Consent of KSV Restructuring Inc. dated December 6, 2021 1-2 
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Tab Document PDF Page 
Range 

4 Freeze Directions issued by the Commission dated December 6, 2021  1-4 

5 Draft Order 1-26 

6 Blackline of Draft Order to Model Order Appointing Receiver  1-26 
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ONTARIO SECURITIES COMMISSION 
Applicant 

- and -

Court File No. ___________ 

GO-TO DEVELOPMENTS HOLDINGS INC. et al. 
Respondents 

ONTARIO 
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE 

(COMMERCIAL LIST) 

APPLICATION RECORD 
(Returnable December 9, 2021)

Ontario Securities Commission 
20 Queen Street West – 20th Floor 
Toronto, ON  M5H 3S8 

Erin Hoult (LSO No. 54002C) 
Tel.: (416) 593-8290 
Email: ehoult@osc.gov.on.ca 

Counsel for the Ontario Securities Commission 
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This is Exhibit “L” referred to in the Affidavit of Oscar Furtado 
sworn before me via video-conference with the deponent in the 
town of Oakville, and the Commissioner in the City of 
Mississauga, this 14th day of December, 2021 

 

Commissioner for Taking Affidavits (or as may be) 

MONICA FAHEIM  
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Court File No.    
ONTARIO 

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE 
COMMERCIAL LIST 

 
 
B E T W E E N : 
 

ONTARIO SECURITIES COMMISSION 
Applicant 

 
- and -  

 
GO-TO DEVELOPMENTS HOLDINGS INC., OSCAR FURTADO, FURTADO 
HOLDINGS INC., GO-TO DEVELOPMENTS ACQUISITIONS INC., GO-TO 

GLENDALE AVENUE INC., GO-TO GLENDALE AVENUE LP, GO-TO MAJOR 
MACKENZIE SOUTH BLOCK INC., GO-TO MAJOR MACKENZIE SOUTH BLOCK 

LP, GO-TO MAJOR MACKENZIE SOUTH BLOCK II INC., GO-TO MAJOR 
MACKENZIE SOUTH BLOCK II LP, GO-TO NIAGARA FALLS CHIPPAWA INC., 

GO-TO NIAGARA FALLS CHIPPAWA LP, GO-TO NIAGARA FALLS EAGLE 
VALLEY INC., GO-TO NIAGARA FALLS EAGLE VALLEY LP, GO-TO SPADINA 

ADELAIDE SQUARE INC., GO-TO SPADINA ADELAIDE SQUARE LP, GO-TO 
STONEY CREEK ELFRIDA INC., GO-TO STONEY CREEK ELFRIDA LP, GO-TO ST. 

CATHARINES BEARD INC., GO-TO ST. CATHARINES BEARD LP, GO-TO 
VAUGHAN ISLINGTON AVENUE INC., GO-TO VAUGHAN ISLINGTON AVENUE 
LP, AURORA ROAD LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, and 2506039 ONTARIO LIMITED 

 
Respondents 

 
 

APPLICATION UNDER  
Sections 126 and 129 of the Securities Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. S.5, as amended 

 
 

NOTICE OF APPLICATION 
 
 
TO THE RESPONDENTS: 
 
A LEGAL PROCEEDING HAS BEEN COMMENCED by the Applicant. The claim made by 
the Applicant appears on the following pages. 
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THIS APPLICATION will come on for a hearing 

 By video conference 

 

at the following location:  

via Zoom meeting to be arranged by the Court, details of which will be provided when 
available; 

 

on Thursday, December 9, 2021 at 2 p.m., or as soon after that time as the matter can be heard. 

 
IF YOU WISH TO OPPOSE THIS APPLICATION, to receive notice of any step in the 
application or to be served with any documents in the application, you or an Ontario lawyer acting 
for you must forthwith prepare a notice of appearance in Form 38A prescribed by the Rules of 
Civil Procedure, serve it on the applicant’s lawyer or, where the applicant does not have a lawyer, 
serve it on the applicant, and file it, with proof of service, in this court office, and you or your 
lawyer must appear at the hearing. 
 
IF YOU WISH TO PRESENT AFFIDAVIT OR OTHER DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE 
TO THE COURT OR TO EXAMINE OR CROSS-EXAMINE WITNESSES ON THE 
APPLICATION, you or your lawyer must, in addition to serving your notice of appearance, serve 
a copy of the evidence on the applicant’s lawyer or, where the applicant does not have a lawyer, 
serve it on the applicant, and file it, with proof of service, in the court office where the application 
is to be heard as soon as possible, but at least four days before the hearing. 
   
IF YOU FAIL TO APPEAR AT THE HEARING, JUDGMENT MAY BE GIVEN IN YOUR 
ABSENCE AND WITHOUT FURTHER NOTICE TO YOU.  IF YOU WISH TO OPPOSE 
THIS APPLICATION BUT ARE UNABLE TO PAY LEGAL FEES, LEGAL AID MAY BE 
AVAILABLE TO YOU BY CONTACTING A LOCAL LEGAL AID OFFICE. 
 
 
 
Date:  December 6, 2021  Issued by __________________________ 

       Local Registrar 
 

   Address of Court Office: 

  Commercial List Office, 
9th Floor, 330 University Avenue,  
Toronto, Ontario 
M5G 1R7 
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TO: Oscar Furtado 

Furtado Holdings Inc.  
 
2354 Salcome Drive 
Oakville, ON 
L6H 7N3 
 
 

AND TO: Go-To Developments Holdings Inc. 
 Go-To Developments Acquisitions Inc. 
 Go-To Glendale Avenue Inc. 
 Go-To Glendale Avenue LP  
 Go-To Major Mackenzie South Block Inc. 
 Go-To Major Mackenzie South Block LP 
 Go-To Major Mackenzie South Block II Inc. 
 Go-To Major Mackenzie South Block II LP 
 Go-To Niagara Falls Chippawa Inc. 
 Go-To Niagara Falls Chippawa LP 
 Go-To Niagara Falls Eagle Valley Inc. 
 Go-To Niagara Falls Eagle Valley LP 
 Go-To Spadina Adelaide Square Inc. 
 Go-To Spadina Adelaide Square LP 
 Go-To Stoney Creek Elfrida Inc. 
 Go-To Stoney Creek Elfrida LP 
 Go-To St. Catharines Beard Inc. 
 Go-To St. Catharines Beard LP  
 Go-To Vaughan Islington Avenue Inc. 
 Go-To Vaughan Islington Avenue LP 
 Aurora Road Limited Partnership 
 2506039 Ontario Limited 

 
1267 Cornwall Road  
Suite 301 
Oakville, ON 
L6J 7T5 
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APPLICATION 
 

1. THE APPLICANT MAKES APPLICATION FOR: 

(a) Orders pursuant to section 129 of the Securities Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. S. 5, as amended (the 

Act), substantially in the form attached at Tab 5 of the application record, appointing KSV 

Restructuring Inc. (KSV) as receiver and manager (in such capacities, the Receiver), 

without security, of all of the assets, undertakings and properties (collectively, the 

Property) of each of the Respondents except Oscar Furtado (collectively, the Go-To 

Respondents), and all proceeds thereof; 

(b) Orders pursuant to section 126 of the Act continuing two freeze directions issued by the 

Ontario Securities Commission on December 6, 2021 (the Directions) in relation to assets 

held by Furtado, until further order of this Honourable Court or until the Commission 

revokes the Directions or consents to the release of assets from the Directions; 

(c) Orders, if necessary, abridging the time for service and filing of this Application or, 

alternatively, validating service of same, such that this Application is properly returnable 

on the date it is heard;  

(d) An order, if necessary, appointing KSV as interim Receiver of all the Property of the 

Go- To Respondents; and 

(e) Such further and other relief as counsel may advise and this Honourable Court permit. 
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2. THE GROUNDS FOR THE APPLICATION ARE:  

Overview 

(a) This application arises from an investigation into a principal of a property development 

group (Furtado) who appears to have used his position to defraud investors and engage in 

undisclosed self-dealing to enrich himself.  The Ontario Securities Commission 

(Commission) thus seeks the: (i) immediate appointment of the Receiver; and (ii) 

continuation of the Directions to preserve assets in Furtado’s hands; to safeguard the best 

interests of stakeholders, and in the interests of the the due administration of Ontario 

securities law, and/or the regulation of the capital markets;  

(b) Furtado is the founder and directing mind of all the Go-To Respondents.  He is an Ontario 

resident.  Each of the Go-To Respondents are Ontario entities, whether corporations or 

limited partnerships (LPs), involved in real estate development;  

(c) Between 2016 and 2020, Furtado and Go-To Developments Holdings Inc. (GTDH) raised 

almost $80 million from approximately 85 Ontario investors for nine projects, by selling 

LP units;   

(d) For each Go-To project, Furtado and GTDH set up an LP and a wholly-owned subsidiary 

of GTDH to act as the general partner (GP) (for one project, they set up two LPs and GPs).  

The projects contemplate development of land and/or of a variety of buildings, including 

condos, townhouses and single-family homes.  No project has begun construction yet, 

although it appears one has begun site servicing;  
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(e) Staff of the Enforcement Branch of the Commission (Staff) have been investigating the 

Go-To business, Furtado and others (the Investigation).  The Investigation has uncovered 

evidence indicating that Furtado has engaged some of the Go-To Respondents in 

transactions to improperly divert partnership funds to his personal benefit, failed to act in 

the best interests of the Go-To Respondents or their stakeholders, and breached the Act in 

several ways, including by misleading Staff during the Investigation;  

The Investigation & Breaches of the Securities Act 

(f) The Investigation has focused on, among other things, the Go-To business and potential 

breaches of the Act, including fraud, misleading statements to investors, and misleading 

Staff;   

(g) The Investigation has uncovered evidence that, among other things:  

(i) From February to October 2019, Furtado raised capital from investors for 

the Go-To Spadina Adelaide Square LP (Adelaide LP); 

(ii) Commencing in or before April 2019, Furtado caused the Adelaide LP to 

undertake a number of transactions with Adelaide Square Developments 

Inc. (ASD) and others, which ultimately resulted in his personal holding 

company, Furtado Holdings Inc. (Furtado Holdings), receiving ASD 

shares and undisclosed payments of $388,087.33 and $6 million from ASD; 

(iii) The transactions with ASD relate to the Adelaide LP’s acquisition of two 

properties in downtown Toronto in April 2019, for which ASD had the 

purchase rights.  As part of the acquisition, the Adelaide LP paid ASD a 
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$20.95 million assignment fee.  Less than 2 weeks later, Furtado Holdings 

received ASD shares and a $388,087.33 payment from ASD, which were 

not disclosed to investors.   

(iv) Within a day of the property acquisitions, the Adelaide LP received a 

purported $19.8 million loan from ASD (Demand Loan).  The majority of 

the loan proceeds were paid to redeem the units of one Adelaide LP investor 

together with a significant return; 

(v) Furtado raised additional investor funds for the Adelaide LP in September 

and October 2019.  On October 1, 2019, he used investor funds to pay 

$12 million on the Demand Loan, even though no payment was due or 

demanded.  The same day, ASD paid Furtado Holdings a $6 million 

dividend. This payment was not disclosed to investors; 

(vi) Furtado’s key contact for ASD was Alfredo Malanca.  A holding company 

belonging to Malanca’s spouse (AKM Holdings Inc. (AKM)) received the 

same quantum of shares and payments from ASD that Furtado Holdings 

received, on the same dates;   

(vii) Furtado continues to allow Malanca to be involved with the Adelaide LP 

project, and to further his, Malanca’s and/or ASD’s interests by:  

(1) giving Malanca a Go-To email account under a different last name;  
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(2) causing the Adelaide LP to accrue $1.5 million in fees in 2020 for 

“development management services”, which are payable, in equal 

amounts, to GTDH and to AKM; and 

(3) allowing the registration of a $19.8 million charge for ASD on the 

Adelaide LP’s properties in June 2021;  

(viii) Furtado used the $6 million Furtado Holdings received to, among other 

things:  

(1) make investments in his personal investment account; 

(2) pay personal expenses, including credit card bills; and 

(3) provide funds to Go-To entities, which they then used to fund 

operating expenses and make payments to investors;  

(ix) Further, as part of the Adelaide LP’s acquisition of properties in April 2019, 

Furtado pledged the assets of two other Go-To LPs to secure obligations of 

the Adelaide LP, which was prohibited by the applicable LP agreements.  

He did not disclose this misuse of partnership assets to investors for more 

than a year, and only after he was questioned by Staff; and 

(x) Furtado has provided shifting, misleading evidence to Staff during 

examinations under oath, including about his contacts at ASD and the 

payments received by Furtado Holdings; 
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(h) Fraud is among the most egregious violations of the Act.  The Investigation has revealed 

evidence of misappropriation, undisclosed payments to Furtado, improper use and 

intermingling of partnership assets, and deception to conceal transactions from investors 

and from Staff of the Commission.  Furtado’s conduct has jeopardized the assets of the Go-

To LPs and investors’ interests;  

(i) Furtado also failed to provide complete and accurate information to Staff during the 

Investigation, including during examinations under oath;   

(j) The requirements to deal honestly with investors and to provide full and accurate 

information to the Commission are cornerstones of the Act’s regulatory regime; 

Need for a Receiver 

(k) Given Furtado’s conduct and its effect on the Go-To Respondents and their assets, the 

appointment of the Receiver is in the best interests of investors and other stakeholders; 

(l) By his actions, Furtado has demonstrated that he lacks the necessary integrity to continue 

to control projects involving investor funds.  The most effective way to safeguard the best 

interests of stakeholders and the integrity of Ontario’s capital markets is to appoint the 

Receiver and remove Furtado from the positions of trust he occupies with the Go-To 

Respondents.  This is especially so given that:  

(i) The primary vehicle via which Furtado Holdings was improperly enriched, 

the Demand Loan payable to ASD, has an outstanding balance of several 

million dollars; and 
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(ii) Furtado has allowed Malanca to remain involved in the Adelaide LP project;  

(m) Appointment of the Receiver is needed to ensure the Go-To business is in the hands of an 

honest, competent, and responsible custodian, and is appropriate for the due administration 

of Ontario securities law;  

Continuation of the Directions is Reasonable and Expedient  

(n) As some of the $6 million received by Furtado Holdings from ASD was used by Furtado 

to make investments in his personal investment account, Staff sought and on December 6, 

2021, the Commission issued, the Directions; 

(o) Subject to the terms therein, the Directions essentially require:  

(i) RBC Direct Investing Inc. to retain all funds, securities and property on 

deposit in investment accounts belonging to Furtado; and,  

(ii) Furtado to maintain any funds, securities or property derived from Go-To 

investor funds, (collectively, the Assets);  

(p) Continuation of the Directions would be reasonable and expedient in the circumstances, 

having due regard to the public interest and, 

(i) the due administration of Ontario securities law; and/or 

(ii) the regulation of the capital markets in Ontario; 

(q) There is a serious issue to be tried with respect to possible contraventions of the Act by 

Furtado and others, including potential fraud; 
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(r) The Assets subject to the Directions were obtained by Furtado using proceeds obtained 

from the conduct at issue.  Alternatively, there is at least a basis to suspect that the Assets 

are connected to the conduct at issue; 

(s) The Directions are necessary for the due administration of Ontario securities law.  The 

Directions preserve assets connected to the conduct in issue for the benefit of investors and 

prevent dissipation of those assets by Furtado, to ensure such assets are available in the 

event that enforcement proceedings are brought before the Commission; 

Legislative provisions, etc. 

(t) Sections 1.1, 2.1(2), 44(2), 122, 126, 126.1, 129, and 129.2 of the Act; 

(u) Sections 135 and 137 of the Courts of Justice Act;  

(v) Rules 1.04, 2.03, 3.02, 14.05(2), 16.08 and 38 of the Rules of Civil Procedure; and 

(w) Such further and other grounds as counsel may advise and this Court may permit.  

3. THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE WILL BE USED AT THE 

HEARING OF THE APPLICATION: 

(a) the Affidavit of Stephanie Collins sworn December 6, 2021;  

(b) the Directions; 

(c) the Consent of KSV to act as Receiver; and 

(d) such further and other evidence as counsel may advise and this Honorable Court permit.  
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December 6, 2021     ONTARIO SECURITIES COMMISSION 
  20 Queen Street West, 22nd Floor 

     Toronto, ON   M5H 3S8 
      
    Erin Hoult 
    LSO No. 54002C 
    Tel.: (416) 593-8290 
    Email: ehoult@osc.gov.on.ca 
    Lawyers for the Ontario Securities Commission  
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AFFIDAVIT OF STEPHANIE COLLINS 
(Sworn via Videoconference December 6, 2021)

I, Stephanie Collins, of the City of Toronto, in the Province of Ontario, MAKE OATH 

AND SAY:

1. This affidavit is sworn in relation to the application by the Ontario Securities Commission 

(the Commission) for the appointment of a receiver and manager and other relief.  

2. I am a Senior Forensic Accountant in the Enforcement Branch (Staff) of the Commission.  

I joined the Commission in February 1998 as a Forensic Accountant.  I am a member of the 

Chartered Professional Accountants of Ontario, Certified in Financial Forensics.  I am also a 

member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and a Certified Fraud 

Examiner.  

3. Staff have been conducting an investigation into Go-To Developments Holdings Inc. 

(GTDH) and its principal, Oscar Furtado (Furtado), among others (the Investigation).  I am the 

forensic accountant assigned to the Investigation.  As such, I have personal knowledge of the 

matters set out in this affidavit, except where I have been informed by others and I believe that 

information to be true.  The Investigation has focused on potential contraventions of the Securities 

Act, including fraud.  In this affidavit, I summarize Staff’s findings and concerns identified to date 

that are relevant to this application.   

A. OVERVIEW 

4. GTDH operates a property development business.  Furtado is a Chartered Professional 

Accountant, the founder of GTDH, and the directing mind of all of the other respondents, including 

Go-To Spadina Adelaide Square LP (Adelaide LP).   
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5. As briefly summarized in this Overview and described in this affidavit, it appears that 

Furtado received benefits, via his holding company, that were not disclosed to the unitholders of 

the Adelaide LP as a result of the Adelaide LP’s acquisition of properties. 

6. Since 2016, Furtado has raised almost $80 million from approximately 85 Ontario investors 

by selling limited partnership units in respect of nine real estate projects (the Go-To Projects).  

For each Go-To Project, investors were told, among other things, that their funds would be used 

to buy properties and fund soft costs.  A summary of the Go-To limited partnerships’ properties is 

attached at Appendix “A”. 

7. In or before the fall of 2018, Alfredo Malanca (Malanca) contacted Furtado to see if he 

was interested in acquiring property in downtown Toronto, including 355 Adelaide St. West and 

46 Charlotte Street (collectively, the Properties).  Prior to contacting Furtado, Malanca, through 

certain entities, had obtained agreements of purchase and sale for each of the Properties. 

8. Malanca is the sole officer and director of Goldmount Financial Group Corporation.  His 

wife, Katarzyna Pikula is the sole officer and director of Goldmount Capital Inc. (collectively 

Goldmount) and of AKM Holdings Inc. (AKM).  Goldmount has assisted with the mortgage 

financing for at least five Go-To Projects, including the Adelaide LP.  For the most part, Furtado’s 

communications with any of these three companies take place with Malanca.  Copies of the 

corporation profile reports for the Goldmount corporations and AKM are attached as Exhibits 

“1”, “2” and “3” respectively.   

9. In early April 2019, as a result of a variety of transactions, the Adelaide LP purchased the 

Properties, the rights to which it acquired from Adelaide Square Developments Inc. (ASD).  The 
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total acquisition cost of both Properties to the Adelaide LP at closing was $74.25 million, which 

included the payment of a $20.95 million assignment fee (Assignment Fee) to ASD.   

10. After the Adelaide LP acquired the Properties, ASD issued shares and made payments to 

both Furtado’s holding company, Furtado Holdings Inc. (Furtado Holdings), and AKM.  In 

particular, each of Furtado Holdings and AKM received 11 shares of ASD and payments of 

$388,087.33 in April 2019 and $6 million in October 2019 from ASD.  Furtado did not disclose, 

to the Adelaide LP investors, the shares or the payments that Furtado Holdings received from ASD.   

11. Furtado used the proceeds of the $6 million received from ASD in October 2019 to, among 

other things, make personal investments and to provide funds to Go-To limited partnerships.  The 

funds provided to Go-To limited partnerships appear to have been used to fund their operations 

including payments due to investors. 

12. Further, Furtado pledged the assets of two other limited partnerships to secure obligations 

of the Adelaide LP in relation to the acquisition of the Properties, contrary to the relevant limited 

partnership agreements.  He did not disclose the pledges to the investors in those LPs until more 

than a year later and only after being questioned about the pledges by Staff. 

13. In addition, it appears that during the Investigation Furtado has attempted to conceal 

information from and given conflicting and misleading evidence to Staff. 

B. THE RESPONDENTS’ BUSINESS

14. GTDH is an Ontario corporation with its head office in Oakville; a copy of its corporation 

profile report is attached as Exhibit “4”. According to correspondence provided to Staff by 

GTDH’s counsel on April 18, 2019, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit “5”:  
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(a) GTDH’s shares are owned by Furtado Holdings;  

(b) GTDH owns all of the shares of Go-To Developments Acquisitions Inc. (GTDA);  

(c) GTDH organizes limited partnerships to acquire and develop land; 

(d) GTDH owns all of the shares of each corporate general partner for each limited 

partnership;  

(e) Furtado is the only ‘key individual’ of GTDH; and 

(f) GTDH has a staff of eight persons, including Furtado and five members of his 

family.  

15. As part of the Investigation, I reviewed the corporation profile reports for each of the 

incorporated respondents, all of which are Ontario corporations.  Furtado is the sole officer and 

director of each of them, except for Go-To Major Mackenzie South Block Inc. and Go-To Major 

Mackenzie South Block II Inc.  Furtado is the sole director, President and Secretary of those two 

corporations and another individual is listed as an “Other (untitled)” officer of them.  

16. The incorporated respondents, other than GTDH, Furtado Holdings and GTDA, are the 

general partners (GPs) of the limited partnership (LPs) respondents.  Although there are nine Go-

To projects, there are ten GPs and ten LPs, as one project (Major Mackenzie South Block) has two 

of each.  A copy of a “Corporate Structure” chart that GTDH provided to Staff is attached as 

Exhibit “6”.  

17. Each of the LPs owns, alone or with others, one or more real properties in Ontario, all of 

which are subject to one or more secured charges, as summarized in Appendix A.  Furtado’s 

evidence to Staff in July 2021 was that none of the projects has begun construction, but one has 

entered site servicing.  An excerpt of the examination of Furtado is attached as Exhibit “7”.  
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18. Between May 2016 and June 2020, almost $80 million was raised from approximately 85 

Ontario residents via distributions of units of the 10 limited partnerships.  Attached at Appendix 

“B” is a table summarizing the funds that were raised from investors for each LP, compiled from 

a review of a unitholder list provided by Furtado, banking records for the partnerships, subscription 

agreements signed by investors, and written answers to Staff’s written questions, provided by 

GTDH and Furtado via counsel.  Bank accounts for the respondents are primarily held at the Royal 

Bank of Canada (RBC).  In addition, 2506039 Ontario Limited has account(s) with TD Canada 

Trust and Go-To Glendale Avenue Inc. has account(s) with Meridian Credit Union. 

19. Furtado’s evidence to Staff was that he met with and provided information to all investors 

in the LPs before they invested.  Excerpts of the transcript of the examinations of Furtado are 

attached as Exhibit “8”. Investors were also provided with written materials in relation to their 

investments.  By way of example, I attach copies of: 

(a) an “Investment Opportunity” document and sample corporate and individual 

subscription agreements for the Go-To Niagara Falls Eagle Valley LP (Eagle 

Valley LP), as Exhibits “9”, “10”, and “11”, respectively; and  

(b) an “Investment Opportunity” document and sample corporate and individual 

subscription agreements for the Go-To Stoney Creek Elfrida LP (Elfrida LP), as 

Exhibits “12”, “13”, and “14”, respectively.  

20. Copies of the limited partnership agreements for each of the Go-To LPs are attached as 

Exhibits “15” to “24”.  In order to protect investors’ information, redactions have been applied to 

some of the exhibits, including Exhibit 23. 
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21. Specifically, the Adelaide LP raised approximately $42 million from 23 investors from 

February 15, 2019 to June 18, 2020.  Attached as Appendix “C” is a spreadsheet summarizing 

the funds raised by the Adelaide LP, compiled from a unitholder list provided by Furtado, banking 

records for the Adelaide LP, subscription agreements signed by investors, written answers to 

Staff’s questions provided by GTDH and Furtado, and other supporting documentation.  

C. BRIEF HISTORY OF ASD AND THE PROPERTIES PRIOR TO BEING 
PURCHASED BY THE ADELAIDE LP

22. Beginning in approximately February 2018, Malanca was engaged in obtaining agreements 

of purchase and sale (PSAs) for 355 Adelaide Street West, Toronto (Adelaide Property) and 46 

Charlotte Street, Toronto (Charlotte Property).  The initial PSAs for the Properties were each 

subsequently amended, and in the case of the agreement for the Charlotte Property ultimately 

replaced with a fresh agreement.  ASD obtained the purchasers’ rights for each of the Properties, 

via either amendment or assignment of the PSAs. 

23. Beginning in at least April 2018, Malanca liaised with, at least, various non-bank lenders, 

potential investors, real estate appraisers, planners, architects, environmental consultants and 

performed due diligence regarding the Properties.  Malanca also circulated a promotional 

“presentation deck” for a project involving the Properties which was called “Adelaide Square”.  

The contact information on that presentation deck is Malanca’s.  For example, a copy of an email 

from Malanca dated November 26, 2018 with the attached presentation deck is attached as 

Exhibit “25”. 

24. At the beginning of 2018, Malanca contacted Furtado to determine if he was interested in 

acquiring property in downtown Toronto.  Furtado subsequently became involved with Malanca 
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and others in discussing, among other things, options for the structure and financing of the 

purchase of the Properties.  During the Investigation, Furtado’s evidence to Staff included that:  

(a) he first met Malanca before he formed Go-To Developments; 

(b) it was his understanding that Malanca was a representative of ASD; and 

(c) before Malanca approached him about the Properties, they had prior business 

dealings. In particular, Malanca was Furtado’s “go-to brokerage person” to find 

private debt lending for the majority of the Go-To limited partnerships. 

An excerpt of the transcript of the examination of Furtado reflecting the foregoing is 

attached as Exhibit “26”.  

25. The Adelaide LP and ASD entered into the Acquisition Agreements (defined below), 

pursuant to which, among other things, ASD assigned the rights to purchase the Properties to the 

Adelaide LP and the Adelaide LP agreed to pay ASD the Assignment Fee. 

26. Angelo Pucci (Pucci) is the sole registered officer and director of ASD; copies of its 

corporation profile report are attached as Exhibit “27”.   

27. During the Investigation, I attempted to contact and speak to Pucci but was not successful.  

I have been advised by two individuals, who identified themselves to me as Pucci’s former landlord 

and his son that Pucci has health issues including dementia.  Pucci’s landlord told me that his first 

episode of leaving the house and not knowing where he was or how to get back occurred in 

approximately August 2019.   
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28. During the Investigation, Furtado’s evidence to Staff included that: 

(a) Malanca was his primary contact for the negotiation of the Memorandum of 

Agreement regarding the $388K Payment (defined below);  

(b) in the summer of 2019, Furtado was told during a lunch meeting with Malanca and 

Pucci that ASD intended to pay Furtado Holdings the $6M Dividend (defined 

below) “when they had the funds to pay”.  Further, that Malanca had the lead in the 

discussion; and 

(c) Furtado said that Malanca was present each of the three times that Furtado met 

Pucci.  

29. Furtado’s evidence to Staff about his interactions with ASD is discussed in further detail 

below.   

D. INITIAL ADELAIDE LP CAPITAL RAISES 

30. Between February 15 and April 2, 2019, approximately 16 investors invested $25.25 

million in the Adelaide LP, as reflected in Appendix C.  Included in this amount is the purchase 

of 336 Class A units for $16.8 million by Anthony Marek (Marek).   

31. Investors in the Adelaide LP signed subscription agreements and were provided with a 

limited partnership agreement effective April 4, 2019 (LP Agreement), a copy of which is 

attached as Exhibit 23 above.  Copies of sample corporate and individual subscription agreements 

for the Adelaide LP are attached as Exhibits “28” and “29”, respectively.   

32. A copy of a brochure that was given to potential investors about the project is attached as 

Exhibit “30”.  
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E. ACQUISITION OF THE PROPERTIES BY THE ADELAIDE LP

33. Ultimately, the Adelaide LP entered into four agreements to acquire the Properties 

(together, the Acquisition Agreements), as follows: 

(a) an Assignment of Agreement of Purchase and Sale with ASD, in respect of the 

Adelaide Property, dated March 26, 2019, a copy of which together with the 

agreement of purchase and sale and its amendments are attached as Exhibit “31”; 

(b) an Assignment of Agreement of Purchase and Sale with ASD, in respect of the 

Charlotte Property, dated March 29, 2019, a copy of which together with the 

agreement of purchase and sale referred to therein are attached as Exhibit “32”;  

(c) an Assignment Fee Agreement with ASD, dated March 29, 2019, a copy of which 

is attached as Exhibit “33”; and 

(d) a Memorandum of Understanding, dated April 3, 2019, relating to Charlotte Street 

with, among others, ASD and FAAN Mortgage Administrators Inc. (FAAN), a 

copy of which is attached as Exhibit “34” (MOU).  FAAN is the Court-appointed 

trustee of one of the mortgage holders on the Charlotte Property.  

34. Pursuant to the Acquisition Agreements:  

(a) the purchase price for the Adelaide Property was $36.8 million;  

(b) the purchase price for the Charlotte Property, on closing, was $16.5 million.  As 

discussed below in (d), a density bonus was subsequently due;  

(c) the Adelaide LP owed ASD the Assignment Fee of $20.95 million; and,  
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(d) under the MOU, further payments were required in the future for the Charlotte 

Property, namely a “density bonus” ranging from $1.95 million to $7.15 million 

depending on the size of the allowable residential gross floor area of the Adelaide 

Square project. 

35. Torkin Manes LLP (Torkin) acted for the Adelaide LP in relation to the acquisition of the 

Properties.  The funds used on closing to pay for the Properties, the Assignment Fee, taxes and 

expenses, included mortgages from Canadian Mortgage Service Corporation and Scarecrow 

Capital Inc. (Scarecrow), and investor funds.  Furtado, as president of Go-To Spadina Adelaide 

Square Inc. (Adelaide GP), directed Torkin to pay the amounts required to close the transactions.  

A copy of the Direction to Torkin is attached as Exhibit “35”.  The Direction provides that the 

Assignment Fee was to be paid to Concorde Law Professional Corporation, in trust.  Attached as 

Exhibit “36” is an excerpt of written answers provided to Staff by Furtado’s counsel, Torkin, 

summarizing the flow of funds to complete the transactions.  

36. The parcel registers for the Properties record their transfers to the Adelaide LP on April 5, 

2019.  Copies of the parcel registers for the Adelaide Property and the Charlotte Property comprise 

Exhibit 108 to Appendix A.  

F. TRANSACTIONS WITH ASD IN APRIL 2019

37. In this section, the transactions involving ASD, Furtado Holdings, and AKM that occurred 

after the Adelaide LP acquired the Properties in April 2019 are detailed.  In brief summary, after 

the payment of the Assignment Fee to ASD: 

(a) on April 5, 2019, the Adelaide LP redeemed Marek’s $16.8 million of units; 
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(b) the redemption of Marek’s units, together with a $2.7 million fixed fee return, was 

funded via a redirection by ASD of most of the Assignment Fee ($19.5 million).  

The Adelaide LP entered a demand loan agreement dated April 4, 2019, pursuant 

to which it owed ASD $19.8 million; 

(c) on April 15, 2019, Furtado Holdings, AKM and two others received shares in ASD; 

and 

(d) Furtado Holdings and AKM each received a cheque dated April 15, 2019 for 

$388,087.33 from the Assignment Fee via a redirection by ASD.   

1) Redirection of the Assignment Fee by ASD 

38. In a Re-Direction dated April 15, 2019, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit “37”, ASD 

instructed its lawyers, Concorde Law, to redirect the Assignment Fee funds as follows: 

West Maroak Developments  $19,500,000.00 
Goldmount Financial Group         300,000.00 
Concorde Law         115,500.00 
RAR Litigation Lawyers        200,000.00 
AKM Holdings Corp.         388,087.33 
AKM Holdings Corp.           58,325.34 
Furtado Holdings Inc.                 388,087.33 
Total  $20,950,000.00 

(i) West Maroak Developments 

39. Marek is an officer and director, and the controlling mind of West Maroak Developments 

(West Maroak).  A copy of the corporation profile report is attached as Exhibit “38”.  As noted 

above, Marek subscribed for 336 units of the Adelaide LP for $16.8 million on March 17, 2019.   
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40. As part of the Investigation, Staff examined Marek over two days.  His evidence to Staff, 

excerpts of the transcript of which are attached as Exhibit “39”, included that: 

(a) Marek was introduced to the Adelaide Square project by a lawyer at Concorde Law, 

who then introduced Marek to Malanca.  Marek subsequently met with Furtado;  

(b) prior to the investment in the Adelaide LP, Marek had never bought limited 

partnership units; and 

(c) Marek did not have a role in the structuring of his initial investment of $16.8 

million.  His understanding was that he was providing short-term funding and 

would receive his $16.8 million investment back, together with a fixed return of 

$2.7 million once the acquisition of the Properties closed.  A copy of a limited 

partnership agreement for the Adelaide LP, which was produced to Staff by Marek 

and reflects the $2.7 million flat fee, is attached as Exhibit “40”.  

41. On April 5, 2019, a resolution of the sole director (Furtado) of the Adelaide GP noted that 

the Adelaide LP would make a return of capital to Marek in the amount of $16.8 million.  A copy 

of the resolution with Marek’s signed acknowledgement is attached as Exhibit “41”.    

42. The initial investment of $16.8 million plus the fixed return of $2.7 million totals the 

$19.5 million noted in the Re-Direction.  While the Re-Direction is dated April 15, 2019, banking 

records show that West Maroak received $19.5 million from Concorde Law on April 5, 2019, the 

date of the resolution to return Marek’s capital.  An excerpt of the banking records for West 

Maroak is attached as Exhibit “42”. 
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(ii) Payment to Goldmount 

43. As discussed below, Furtado told Staff that $300,000 was paid to Goldmount for 

introducing Marek to the Adelaide LP. 

(iii) Payments to Furtado Holdings and AKM 

44. Furtado Holdings received a cheque dated April 15, 2019, from Concorde Law for 

$388,087.33 (the $388K Payment) a copy of which is attached as Exhibit “43”.  Furtado’s 

changing explanations of that payment are noted below.  AKM also received a cheque from 

Concorde Law for the same amount that day, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit “44”.   

2) The Demand Loan from ASD to the Adelaide LP 

45. Furtado told Staff that the Adelaide LP borrowed $19.8 million from ASD in order to 

finance the return of capital plus the flat fee to Marek and the $300,000 payment to Goldmount for 

referring Marek.  Attached as Exhibit “45” are excerpts from the transcripts of the examination 

of Furtado.  During the Investigation, Furtado produced a demand loan agreement dated April 4, 

2019, for $19.8 million between the Adelaide LP as the borrower and ASD as the lender (the 

Demand Loan), a copy of which is attached as Exhibit “46”.  The Demand Loan agreement states 

that the purpose of the loan was “… to reimburse the bridge equity loan received from an equity 

investor who deposited directly to lawyer’s trust account for closing of Adelaide Project [sic].  The 

Lender reimbursed the funds directly to the equity investor and set up a receivable from the 

Borrower”.   

46. After being asked by Staff about the loan, on June 29, 2021, Furtado authorized the 

registration of a $19.8 million charge against the Properties on behalf of ASD, in relation to the 

Demand Loan.  A copy of that charge is attached as Exhibit “47”.   
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3) ASD Shares  

47. One week after the Adelaide LP acquired the Properties, on April 12, 2019, the articles of 

ASD were amended to change the share structure.  A copy of the Articles of Amendment is 

attached as Exhibit “48”.   

48. Furtado Holdings received 11 Class A common shares in ASD on April 15, 2019; a copy 

of the share certificate is attached as Exhibit “49”.  Several documents, each dated April 15, 2019, 

were executed in relation to the issuance of ASD shares to Furtado Holdings, including: 

(a) A Resolution of the Board of Directors of ASD, resolving to issue 11 shares to each 

of Furtado Holdings, AKM, and FIM Holdings Inc., and 67 shares to Pucci, a copy 

of which is attached as Exhibit “50”; 

(b) A Subscription of Shares, in which Furtado Holdings agreed to subscribe for 11 

common shares of ASD for $11, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit “51”;   

(c) A Special Resolution of the Shareholders of ASD, resolving to reorganize the 

capital stock of the corporation, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit “52”; and   

(d) A Shareholders’ Agreement, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit “53”. 

G. ADELAIDE LP’S FURTHER SALES OF LP UNITS AND DEMAND LOAN 
PAYMENT - FALL 2019 

1) Further Sales of LP Units 

49. Between September 19 and 30, 2019, Furtado raised additional funds totalling $13.25 

million for the Adelaide LP from four investors, including a further $12 million from Marek on 

September 26, as seen in Appendix C.  
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(i) Discussions prior to Marek’s $12 million investment 

50. During his examination, Marek told Staff that Furtado contacted him in August 2019 to 

seek further investment in the Adelaide LP.  Furtado, however, told Staff at his examination in 

September 2020 that Marek approached him in August 2019 indicating that he was willing to come 

back as an investor.  Excerpts of the transcripts of Marek and Furtado, respectively, are attached 

as Exhibits “54” and “55”. 

51. Both Furtado and Marek gave evidence that they met to discuss a potential new investment 

by Marek in the Adelaide LP, in late August and/or early September 2019.  They also agree that 

Furtado provided Marek with a copy of the brochure attached as Exhibit “56”.    

52. Furtado and Marek also both gave evidence that Furtado did not expressly tell Marek how 

the proceeds of any further investment would be used by the Adelaide LP, nor did Marek ask.  In 

this respect: 

(a) Marek’s evidence was that, during the meeting, Furtado presented to him about the 

Adelaide Square project, including about the building, the architects involved, the 

timing and direction of the total project.  Marek’s evidence was that he understood 

that the Adelaide LP was raising funds “In order to pay its consultants and the 

development fees and going forward with the project”.  His evidence was that 

Furtado said “that they needed another $12 million to flow through to complete the 

project”; and 

(b) Furtado’s evidence was that he told Marek “we are raising equity for the LP.  We 

didn’t get into the details of what the money was to be used for.”  

147



16. 

Excerpts of the transcript of the examinations of Marek and Furtado, respectively, that 

reflect the foregoing are attached as Exhibits “57” and “58”.  

53. Furtado and Marek were each asked about a portion of the brochure attached as Exhibit 56 

above which, again, was provided to Marek in August or September 2019.  In particular, each were 

shown this page 10 of that Exhibit: 

54. Furtado’s evidence about page 10 was that it reflected the circumstances as of the day the 

acquisitions of the Properties closed.  Furtado stated that the line “Equity – Adelaide Square 

Developments – 16.8” indicated that ASD was, on April 4, 2019, holding Marek’s $16.8 million 

investment and would be the entity paying him back.  Furtado asserted that he explained that fact 

to Marek during their meeting.  Among other things, Furtado stated “It was clearly made clear to 

[Marek] that that is all that was, was his own money, and he said yes, okay…”.  Furtado 

acknowledged that ASD had not invested any equity in the Adelaide LP, and stated that the 
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document “Could have been worded better…”  An excerpt of the transcript of the examination of 

Furtado that reflects the foregoing is attached as Exhibit “59”. 

55. Marek’s evidence, on the other hand, was that Furtado told him “nothing” about the line 

“Equity – Adelaide Square Developments – 16.8”.  Marek’s evidence was that Furtado did not tell 

him, nor did he understand before making the investment of $12 million in September 2019, any 

of the following:  

(a) the “16.8” figure on page 10 represented Marek’s previous investment of $16.8 

million in the Adelaide LP;  

(b) ASD was the entity that had paid back Marek’s earlier investment;  

(c) the Adelaide LP had received a loan from ASD to repay Marek’s investment; and 

(d) Marek’s $12 million investment was to be used to repay part of the loan owed to 

ASD.   

An excerpt of the transcript of the examination of Marek that reflects the foregoing is 

attached as Exhibit “60”.  

2) Demand Loan Payment and its Source of Funds 

56. On October 1, 2019, less than a week after Marek’s $12 million investment, the Adelaide 

LP transferred $12 million to Schneider Ruggiero Spencer Milburn LLP (Schneider Ruggiero).  

The Adelaide LP’s bank balance immediately prior to the payment was approximately $13.2 

million.  Based on a review of the bank statements and supporting documentation, the majority of 

the payment to Schneider Ruggiero must have been comprised of the $12 million investment by 

Marek.  Copies of the bank statements and supporting documentation are attached as Exhibit “61”.   
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57. Furtado’s evidence to Staff was that the $12 million payment by the Adelaide LP to 

Schneider Ruggiero on October 1, 2019 was a partial payment on the Demand Loan.  He further 

stated that such payment was not due and had not been demanded by ASD.  Furtado also asserted 

that one of the Adelaide LP’s goals was to raise equity to pay down debts.  It appears from the 

Demand Loan agreement and a summary of the status of the loan provided by Furtado’s counsel 

that the interest payable on the Demand Loan was a fixed monthly amount that increased over time 

but was not changed by the $12 million payment.  Excerpts of written answers provided to Staff 

by Furtado’s counsel, and from the transcripts of the examinations of Furtado on these matters are 

attached as Exhibit 36 above, Exhibits “62” and “63” respectively.  

H. PAYMENT OF ASD DIVIDENDS TO FURTADO HOLDINGS AND AKM 

58. In a document titled “Re Direction Re Funds” dated September 30, 2019, a copy of which 

is attached as Exhibit “64”, ASD instructed Schneider Ruggiero to pay a $6M partial dividend to 

Furtado Holdings ($6M Dividend).  The direction states that it is “Re: Adelaide Square 

Developments Inc. dividend distribution relating to the properties municipally known as 355 

Adelaide St. W., Toronto, Ontario 46 Charlotte St., Toronto, Ontario”.   

59. On October 1, 2019, Furtado Holdings and AKM were each paid a $6M dividend by 

Schneider Ruggiero; an excerpt of the Furtado Holdings bank statement is attached as Exhibit 

“65” and a copy of a wire payment confirmation for AKM’s account is attached as Exhibit “66”.  

For the year ending 2019, AKM and Furtado Holdings each received a T5 Statement of Investment 

Income in the amount of $6,388,087 for dividend income, copies of which are attached as Exhibits 

“67” and “68” respectively.  It thus appears that the payments in the amounts of $388,087 and $6 

million to each of AKM and Furtado Holdings were recorded as dividends for their shareholding 

in ASD. 
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60. Thus, on the same day that the Adelaide LP paid $12 million to Schneider Ruggiero, 

purportedly as a partial payment on the Demand Loan with ASD, Furtado Holdings and AKM 

were each wired a $6 million dividend payment from ASD via Schneider Ruggiero.  

I. FURTADO’S USE OF THE $6 MILLION FROM ASD

61. Prior to the receipt of the $6 million dividend on October 1, 2019, the balance in the Furtado 

Holdings Royal Bank account was approximately $2,000.  Between October 1, 2019 and August 

17, 2020 (the Dividend Period), the only other funds deposited in the account were: (a) a 

repayment of a loan by the Adelaide LP in the amount of $75,000; and (b) approximately $1,800 

from an unknown source.  An excerpt from my draft source and application of funds analysis and 

the relevant bank statements for the Furtado Holdings account for the Dividend Period are 

attached, respectively, as Appendix “D” and Exhibit “113” thereto.  In summary, during the 

Dividend Period approximately:  

(a) $2.25 million was transferred from Furtado Holdings to Furtado’s personal account 

at RBC between November 28, 2019 and March 31, 2020 (Furtado Bank 

Account); 

(b) $3.265 million was loaned or otherwise transferred to various Go-To entities;  

(c) $541,000 was transferred to law firms;  

(d) $10,000 was paid to Humberstone Lands Inc. in relation to “MF Georgetown 

Expenses”; and  

(e) as at August 17, 2020, the balance in the Furtado Holdings account had diminished 

to approximately $11,861.  
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62. With respect to the approximately $2.25 million transferred to the Furtado Bank Account, 

there were transfers out of that account totalling approximately $2.026 million to Furtado’s RBC 

Direct Investing account (RBC Direct Account) which were made close in time to the transfers 

in from Furtado Holdings.  Attached as Exhibit “69” are copies of the account statements for the 

Furtado Bank Account for the period November 8, 2019 to April 9, 2020, together with the 

supporting documents for the transfers in from Furtado Holdings and the transfers out to the RBC 

Direct Account in that period. 

63. The approximately $2.026 million which went to the RBC Direct Account was transferred 

into that account over time, with the first transfer occurring in January 2020.  As at the end of 

December 2019, Furtado’s RBC Direct Account had assets valued at CAD (6,822.24) and 

USD 307,235.58.  I reviewed the RBC Direct Account statements for the period January 2020 to 

October 2021, which is the most recent month for which I have statements.  Over that period, 

Furtado purchased and sold various securities within the RBC Direct Account, in both CAD and 

USD, the valuations of which fluctuated over time, and made transfers in and out of the RBC 

Direct Account.  As of October 29, 2021, the market values of the securities and cash in the RBC 

Direct Account were CAD 1,240,041.27 and USD 463,056.44.  Attached as Exhibit “70” are 

copies of the CAD and USD December 2019 and October 2021 statements for the RBC Direct 

Account.  

64. Appendix D above contains a summary of the receipts of the $3.265 million by the Go-To 

entities in the Dividend Period.  I have not yet completed a full source and application analysis of 

the approximately $3.265 million that went to other Go-To entities.  Generally speaking, however, 

it appears that those funds were spent on operating costs and payments to LP investors.   
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J. FURTADO’S EXPLANATIONS FOR THE ASD SHARES AND PAYMENTS

65. In addition to providing, via counsel, answers to written questions, Furtado was examined 

by Staff over 2.5 days, on September 24, 2020, November 5, 2020 and July 7, 2021.  Furtado’s 

evidence to Staff as to Furtado Holdings’ receipt of the ASD shares, the $388K Payment, and the 

$6M Dividend has changed over time, and is discussed in chronological order below. 

66. Furtado confirmed that none of the $388K Payment, Furtado Holdings’ shareholding in 

ASD, nor the $6M Dividend were disclosed to Adelaide LP investors.  It was Furtado’s position 

that the shareholding and dividend took place after the Properties were acquired, had no impact on 

unitholders and there was no disclosure requirement.  Attached as Exhibit “71” are excerpts of 

the transcripts of the examination of Furtado reflecting the foregoing. 

1) First Examination – September 24, 2020 

67. On the first day of his examination, Furtado was shown the deposit slip and cheque for the 

$388K Payment dated April 16, 2019, attached as Exhibit 43 above, which refers to 46 Charlotte 

in the memo line. Furtado was asked what the cheque represents.  Furtado’s answer was “I don’t 

recall.  I don’t recall offhand”.  Attached as Exhibit “72” is an excerpt of the transcript containing 

this exchange.   

68. During that examination, Furtado was also shown the Furtado Holdings bank statement 

showing a $6 million transfer from Schneider Ruggiero on October 1, 2019 and was asked what 

the funds were for.  Furtado’s answer was “I don’t recall offhand”.  Attached as Exhibit “73” is 

an excerpt of the transcript containing this exchange. 
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2) Second Examination – November 5, 2020 

69. During the second day of his examination in November 2020, Furtado’s evidence regarding 

the $388K Payment was that:  

(a) by agreement with ASD, Furtado Holdings was paid $388,087.33 as a return for 

having “assumed the risk” for a non-refundable deposit of $800,000 that was paid 

to the vendor of the Adelaide Property with funds from the Adelaide LP;  

(b) ASD did not have the money to fund the deposit, so Furtado offered to fund it.  

Furtado Holdings “assumed the risk that it would be lost” if the transaction did not 

close and asked ASD to pay a fee if the deal did close; and 

(c) There was no contract or other written document relating to the foregoing and the 

return was agreed during a “verbal discussion” he had with Pucci. 

Attached as Exhibit “74” is an excerpt of the transcript of the examination of Furtado 

reflecting the above.  

70. Regarding the ASD shares and the $6M Dividend, Furtado’s evidence at the second 

examination was that: 

(a) ASD’s management approached him after the closing of the Properties and said 

they wanted to give him shares in ASD, comprising a minority interest of 11%, and 

that he “was not aware they were going to do so”; 

(b) he met with ASD and completed the paperwork to receive the shares; 
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(c) ASD subsequently decided to declare a dividend of $6 million on Furtado 

Holdings’ shares; 

(d) ASD wanted to give him shares as “they saw the value that [he] brought to the 

transaction”.  Furtado claimed that certain negotiation strategies and aspects of the 

transactions, for example the density bonus for the Charlotte Property, were his 

ideas and his ideas “save[d] the deal”.  He stated that his receipt of the $6M 

Dividend “was more of a thank you than anything else”; and 

(e) His usual contact at ASD was Pucci, and that the conversation about ASD giving 

Furtado Holdings shares was with Pucci. 

Attached as Exhibit “75” is an excerpt of the transcript of the examination of Furtado 

reflecting the above.  

3) Documents Produced After the Second Examination 

71. After the second examination, Staff sought, via summons, additional documents from 

Furtado relating to the Adelaide LP transactions and Furtado Holdings’ receipt of payments and 

shares from ASD, including all correspondence with ASD or its representatives in relation to the 

purchase and sale of the Properties.  A copy of Furtado’s written answers in response, provided to 

Staff by his counsel on January 28, 2021, is attached as Exhibit “76”.  

72. In addition, with the January 2021 written answers Furtado produced: 

(a) a “Memorandum of Agreement” between Furtado, ASD and the Adelaide LP 

relating to the $388K Payment, despite his evidence at the second examination that 

there was no written document regarding the $388K Payment; a copy is attached as

155



24. 

Exhibit “77”. (Furtado also produced a Memorandum of Agreement between 

himself, Furtado Holdings and the Adelaide LP, a copy of which is attached as

Exhibit “78”); and 

(b) versions of the Re-Direction and certain of the ASD shareholding documents 

containing redactions, which removed references to anyone other than Furtado and 

Pucci, copies of which are attached as Exhibit “79”.  The unredacted versions of 

these documents, which are attached as Exhibits 37, 53, 50 and 52 above, were 

produced to Staff on February 23, 2021. 

4) Third Examination – July 7, 2021 

73. Furtado’s evidence at the third examination included that:  

(a) Malanca was his primary contact for the negotiation of the Memorandum of 

Agreement regarding the $388K Payment;  

(b) in the summer of 2019, Furtado was told during a lunch meeting with Malanca and 

Pucci that ASD intended to pay Furtado Holdings the $6M Dividend “when they 

had the funds to pay”.  Further, that Malanca had the lead in the discussion; and 

(c) he had limited exposure to Pucci, only recalled meeting him 3 times in person, and 

that Malanca was present at all those meetings. 

Attached as Exhibit “80” are excerpts of the transcript of the July 2021 examination of 

Furtado reflecting the above.  

74. In addition, with respect to the $388K Payment to Furtado Holdings, Furtado’s evidence 

at this examination was that, if the acquisition of the Properties failed to close and the $800,000 
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deposit was forfeited, Furtado Holdings would have reimbursed the Adelaide LP the $800,000 it 

had advanced.  When asked what assets Furtado Holdings had at the time it provided this assurance 

to the Adelaide LP, Furtado’s evidence was that he could not recall offhand and, via counsel, he 

refused to provide that information by way of undertaking.  Attached as Exhibits “81” and “82” 

respectively are excerpts of the transcript reflecting the foregoing and from his written answers to 

undertakings delivered thereafter.   

75. As mentioned above, for the year ending 2019, AKM and Furtado Holdings each received 

a T5 in the amount of $6,388,087 for dividend income.  When asked why Furtado Holdings 

received a T5 indicating that the $388K was a dividend, Furtado’s evidence was that payment in 

that manner was more tax effective.  Furtado further indicated that he had “no idea” why, or if, 

AKM also received a payment of $388,087.  Attached as Exhibit “83” are excerpts of the 

transcript reflecting the foregoing.   

K. FURTADO’S ADDITIONAL BUSINESS DEALINGS WITH MALANCA AND/OR 
AKM

76. During the third examination, Staff also entered as exhibits for identification and 

questioned Furtado about four email exchanges between him and Malanca in February and March 

2019, copies of which, including the exhibit stamps, are attached as Exhibits “84”, “85”, “86”, 

and “87” respectively.  All of these Exhibits, which pre-dated the closing of the Properties, refer 

to a “lift” or “lift payment” within them.  An excerpt of the transcript relating to these email 

exchanges is attached as Exhibit “88”.   

77. Furtado asserted that “lift” was a term that could imply many things.  Further, Furtado 

stated that in relation to the Properties, Malanca used the term ‘lift’ in conversations with Furtado 

relating to “the profitability that he was making on – that [ASD] was making”.  It appears that 

157



26. 

ASD’s profit, before expenses, on the sale of the Properties to the Adelaide LP was the $20.95 

million Assignment Fee.  Furtado’s evidence to Staff was that when he was negotiating the 

Properties’ acquisition, he did not negotiate, expect or intend to receive part of the benefit of the 

Assignment Fee payable to ASD.  An excerpt of the transcript reflecting the foregoing is attached 

as Exhibit “89”.  

78. Furtado’s evidence at the third examination also included that:  

(a) Malanca continues to be involved with the Adelaide LP project, including that he 

has been assisting with the development application process; and 

(b) Furtado has provided Malanca with a Go-To email account under the name 

“Alfredo Palmeri”, because Malanca asked for the email account to be in that name. 

Furtado claimed that he did not know why some people know Malanca as Palmeri, 

other than that Palmeri is Malanca’s mother’s maiden name.   

Excerpts of the transcript reflecting the foregoing are attached as Exhibit “90”.   

79. In contrast to Furtado’s evidence, Marek gave evidence to Staff that, in summary:  

(a) he received emails from both “Alfredo Malanca” and “Alfredo Palmeri” and, at 

some point after making the $12 million investment in September 2019, he did 

some internet searching of those names and discovered, among other things, 

documents relating to criminal conviction of “Alfredo Italo Malanca”; 

(b) he then contacted Furtado to ask if the person they were dealing with was Alfredo 

Italo Malanca.  Furtado invited Marek to a meeting.  Among other things, Furtado 
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confirmed Marek’s conclusion about Malanca’s history.  Further, Marek had a 

subsequent meeting with Furtado and Malanca, in which Malanca himself 

confirmed he had spent time in prison; and  

(c) When Marek asked why Malanca sometimes goes by Palmeri, he was told 

“…because of his storied past, he could not get financing…because [sic] would do 

a check on him and most likely … he would not fall within the requirements … of 

what a lender would looking at from a borrower”.  

Excerpts of the transcript of the examination of Marek reflecting the foregoing are attached 

as Exhibit “91”.  Attached as Exhibits “92”, “93”, and “94” respectively are copies of 

the reasons of the Superior Court of Justice, the Court of Appeal, and the Supreme Court 

of Canada (denying leave) in the proceeding against Alfredo Italo Malanca. 

80. The Adelaide GP entered into a Project Management Agreement dated July 31, 2020, with 

GTDH and AKM as consultants (the PMA).  In the PMA produced to Staff by Furtado’s counsel, 

the manager is listed as “TBD”; a copy is attached as Exhibit “95”. Among other things, the PMA 

provides that each of GTDH and AKM are to be paid a “Development Consultant Fee” of $750,000 

and a “Construction Consultant Fee” in an amount to be determined (see article 5.2 of the PMA).  

Note 5 to the draft financial statements for the Adelaide LP for the calendar year ended 2020 states 

that the Adelaide LP accrued $750,000 in development management fees owing to both GTDH 

and AKM in 2020; a copy of those draft financial statements is attached as Exhibit “96”. 
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L. CROSS-COLLATERALIZATION – USE OF OTHER LPS’ ASSETS FOR 
ADELAIDE LP

81. In addition, as part of the transactions to acquire the Properties for the Adelaide LP, Furtado 

pledged the assets of two other limited partnerships to secure obligations of the Adelaide LP.   

82. Furtado signed the MOU attached at Exhibit 34 on behalf of the Adelaide LP and Adelaide 

GP, himself, and on behalf of the Elfrida LP and Go-To Stoney Creek Elfrida Inc. (Elfrida GP).  

Under the MOU, the Elfrida GP and Elfrida LP are guarantors of obligations of the Adelaide LP, 

as set out in that agreement.  Among other things in the MOU, the Elfrida GP and Elfrida LP 

agreed to the registration of a $7.15 million collateral charge on the Elfrida LP’s property.  A $7.15 

million charge was registered against the Elfrida LP’s property by FAAN on April 5, 2019 (FAAN 

Charge) and removed from title on November 9, 2021; copies of the FAAN Charge and the 

discharge are attached as Exhibit “97”.    

83. Furtado also caused the Eagle Valley LP and Go-To Niagara Falls Eagle Valley Inc. to 

agree to the registration of a $13,712,500 charge on the Eagle Valley LP’s property as collateral 

for Scarecrow in respect of its mortgage loan to the Adelaide LP.  The charge was registered 

against the Eagle Valley LP’s property on April 4, 2019, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit 

“98” (Scarecrow Charge).  The Scarecrow Charge was transferred and subsequently removed 

from title by the transferee on April 1, 2021.  Copies of the transfer and discharge of the Scarecrow 

Charge are attached as Exhibit “99”.  

84. The LP Agreements for the Elfrida LP and the Eagle Valley LP, respectively, which are 

attached at Exhibits 19 and 15 above, both state at section 5.16: 
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29. 

5.16 Restrictions upon the General Partner.  …  The General Partner covenants that it 
shall not: 

(a) Cause the Partnership to guarantee the obligations or liabilities of, or make 
loans to, the General Partner or any Affiliate of the General Partner; or 

(b) Commingle the funds and assets of the Partnership with the funds or assets of 
any other Person, including those of the General Partner or any Affiliate of the 
General Partner. 

85. Furtado was asked about uses of other limited partnership assets as security for obligations 

of the Adelaide LP during Staff’s examinations of him.  In summary, his evidence included that: 

(a) cross collateralization, which is the nature of the FAAN Charge and Scarecrow 

Charge, is common in the industry; 

(b) investors were not told of the FAAN Charge and the Scarecrow Charge before they 

occurred.  It was Furtado’s position that notice to or approval of investors was not 

required.  Further, he stated that investors were subsequently informed of the 

charges either via their receipt of audited financial statements for the relevant 

limited partnership (sent when requested by the investor), a progress report on the 

relevant project, or in discussions with him.  The disclosure to investors via the 

progress reports occurred only after Staff questioned Furtado about the cross 

collateralizations; and 

(c) Furtado did not obtain any compensation for either the Eagle Valley LP or the 

Elfrida LP in exchange for the pledging of their assets for the FAAN Charge and 

the Scarecrow Charge. 

Excerpts of the transcripts of the examination of Furtado reflecting the foregoing are 

attached as Exhibit “100”.   
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30. 

86. Staff began asking questions about these cross-collateralizations at the first examination of 

Furtado on September 24, 2020.  The progress reports to Eagle Valley LP and Elfrida LP investors 

which first mention the April 2019 cross-collateral charges are dated November 9, 2020 and 

December 18, 2020, respectively; copies are attached as Exhibits “101” and “102”. 

M. CONCLUSION

87. I make this affidavit in relation to the Commission’s application pursuant to the Securities 

Act, and for no other purpose. 

SWORN before me remotely by 
Stephanie Collins stated as being located 
at the City of Toronto in the Province of 
Ontario, before me at the City of 
Mississauga in the Province of Ontario, 
on this 6th day of December, 2021, in 
accordance with O. Reg 431/20, 
Administering Oath or Declaration 
Remotely. 

Commissioner for taking affidavits

STEPHANIE COLLINS
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This is Exhibit “N” referred to in the Affidavit of Oscar Furtado 
sworn before me via video-conference with the deponent in the 
town of Oakville, and the Commissioner in the City of 
Mississauga, this 14th day of December, 2021 

 

Commissioner for Taking Affidavits (or as may be) 

MONICA FAHEIM  

 

163



 

    

 

            

             
  

 
  

        

        

   
 

             

                 

164



 

 

                 

               
                

            
            

                
            

              
        
              

165



 

             
               
             

               
                

            
            

                
            

           

           

           

               

               

               

      

               
            

       

              
              

         

              
        

             

              
               

             
     

                 
               
   

            
           

166



 

             
              

         
           

            
  

              
              

             
              

                
              

              
           

          
            

    

               
          

                
         

              
  

           
         
         

       
          

                
            
               
               
           

              
                

               
               

               
               

                
              

                

167



 

                
              
                 
               

               
   

            

               
                
             
           

             
        

             
              

            
   

              
              
               

                
           

            
              

               
           

           
           

          
            

            
          

  

               
          

           
            

              
             

     

168



 

            
             

      

              
     

                          

      

             
  

169



 

               
             

                
              

               
     

              
               

               
             

  

              
             

                 
     

     

               
               

              
             
              

               
         

               
               

              

              
            

               
             

              
               

              
               
          

              
             

                
            

              
             

170



 

              
              

                
 

                  
          

              
           

              
                

            
             

          

             
         

                 
  

                 
               

            
                 

    

             
               

            
           

             
               

           
   

             
                

             
                
                 

       

                
            

              
              

              

171



 

 

                
                  
              

                
   

             
       

              
          

               
            
                

              
  

               
                

              
              
         

              
               

       

              
          

              
  

                
            

             
               

    

172



 

                  
                

              
 

               
               

              
                  

                 
             

             
                 

                 
               

         

               
               

               
              

               
             

                
               

   

                
              
                

            
          

   

            

                
      

              
            

            

173



 

            

                
      

              
            

            

            

                
      

              
            

            

               
              

   

               
                    

                
                

                
               

                
 

           
           

          
         

       
          

               
             

               
                 

              
                

               
            

        

174



 

      

              
           

           

175



 

              
             

            
              
             

 

             
 

               
 

           

               
     

                
               

                
                

                
             

              
               

  

                
                

            
                

             
              
  

            
             
              
              

            
                 

               
             

              
             

176



 

               
         

              
                

             
                

               
               

              
               

               
             
             

             

              
              

             
                

             
     

            

            
        

              
                

            
                

               
    

 

               
            

           
               

177



 

              
               
            

              
               

     

             
              

      

 

        
 

                
                

            
            

           
               

               
            

                
           

              

              
             

              
       

         

178



 

               
          

             
   

              
           

          

                
   

            
                  

         

                 
                 
        

                
                 
               

     

                
              
                
            

               
             

179



 

               
                  

            
      

              
               

              
              
             

                
 

              
              

               
                

              
               

              
                

               
               

                
             

             
           

             
        

                
              

                
  

               
            

     

            
              

              
                  

               
               

              
              

               

180



 

            
              

           
             

              
      

               
            
             

                  
              

             
              

                
             

               
            

           
            

               
                 

         

               
             

              
             
              

 

           

             
             

                 
          

             
           

              
        

181



 

               
            

           
  

           
               
          

           
             

           

              
            

           
           

          
 

                
        

               
                
             
        

                 
            

          

              
         

            
       

             
 

              
            

 

            
               

        

             
                

182



 

           
         

              
             

                 
              

             
              

       

            
             

               
              

                
      

                 
               

          

            
               

              
             

              
           

              
              

            
    

              
              

           
              

        

               
              

       

              
            

             
          

183



 

               
                

                  
       

              
       

           
            

            

          
          

          
            

         
           

            
    

         
           

              
              

            
          

             
             

           

               
                

      

            
              

              
             

            
   

              
              

              
                

            

184



 

              
              

               
           

                   
              

          
                

             
                  

              
               

               
         

              
             

           
             

            
             

             
            

  

                 
            

             
             
              

                  
               

     

              
               

              
                 

     

                  
            
                  
      

              
               

185



 

               
         

             
              

              
              

            
            

              
                

              
             

                
              

             
                
               
                  
              

                
             
             
               

                 
 

               
              

              
              

              
               

                   
              

                
                 

                
              

               
                

      

               
              

               

186



 

               
      

            
               

               
               

                
    

              
            
            

                 
            

            
                   

             

               
               

                
        

     

                
          

          
               
             

           
            

             
            

          
             

            

         

            
             

              
          

     

  

187



 

                
            

          

               
          
      

             
            

             
            

           
           

          

              
             

              
             
               
              

          

               
               

            

              
  

            
             

       

              
            

             

               

             
               

            
              

           
            

    

188



 

                 
  

               
    

             
              
             

     

              
            

                
              

 

              
           

                
               

               
                

         

                 
             

             
             
          

              
              

            
              
               

             
                 

189



 

                   
          

             
             

              
              

           
           

               
               

             
                 

   

               
             

             
           

          
            
             

 

             
            

           

              
                

              
               

       

             
              

               
               

 

            
               

               
                

      

            
            

190



 

              
              

             
               
              

               
        

            
           

                 
          

              

              
                

            
                
                

                
               

 

               
        

                  
               

             
             

     

                 
               

       

          

               

              
                

    

191



 

                 
                 

     

                 
                 
                

            

                 
                 

           

    
          

     
      

                
            

             
           

  
 

             
               
        

              
              

               
                

               
 

              
               

             
 

               
               

                
                
                 
                  

                  
                    

                
                  

192



 

               
              

   

                
               

                
                   

                  
               

             
              

      

                  
              
                  

               
              

            
                

              

                 
            

               
             

              
             

                
   

             
           

               
           

             
     

         

               
 

             
   

193



 

             
      

         

         

             
     

      

               
                
  

 

    
 

     
 

                     

               
                

              
               

       

 

            
               

                

194



 

              
               

                 
            

              
        

            
             

            
               

               
      

  
   

              
  

              
             

              
    

              
            

      

                
             
            

         

              
          

             

             
              

             
             

              
 

              
                 

                 

195



 

                
             

            
                 

               
              

    

               
               

              
               

              
               

            
              

               
                
             

                
               

               
            

               
              

             
                   
              

              
                
             
                

               
           
              

                
             

   

             
           
              

                
                

              
              

196



 

             
             
         
          
    

  
   

               
               

              
               

 

       
 

 
            

     
            

  
       

197



 

  

                  
               

                 
                

               
              

    

             
                

                
           

               

             

           

            

             
             

                

                 

             

               

                

              

               

       

               

                  

                  

                 

             

         

             

      

                
                

     

             
            

          
       

198



 

           

                 
             

           
          

           
               

                  
               

             
              

               
                  

     

             
                 
                 

             
           

             
                

              
            

              
              

            
 

             
                

             
        

             
            

            
                 

                
             

                 
                

            
  

199



 

         

        

    
    

            
         

  

                 
              
              

                  
             

          

              
                

             
              
              

              
             

    

               
               

         

               

               
 

               
               

                 
  

             
                

           

              
                 
              

     

                  

200



 

             
             

           
                

      

       

201



 

             

     

    
 

   

  
        

     

 

    

  
        

    
 

          
      

 

   

  
        

202



 

  

 

      
                    

          

  

     
            

203



 

  

      

        
      

    
  

         
       

   
      

 

204



– 15 – 

  
58932056.1 

 
 

 

 

 

 

This is Exhibit “O” referred to in the Affidavit of Oscar Furtado 
sworn before me via video-conference with the deponent in the 
town of Oakville, and the Commissioner in the City of 
Mississauga, this 14th day of December, 2021 

 

Commissioner for Taking Affidavits (or as may be) 

MONICA FAHEIM  

 

205



206



58927087_1.docx 

ONTARIO SECURITIES COMMISSION and GO-TO DEVELOPMENTS HOLDINGS INC. et al  Court of Appeal File No.: C70114

Court File No: CV-21-00673521-00CL 
Applicant (Respondent in Appeal) Respondents (Appellants in Appeal – Moving Party) 

COURT OF APPEAL FOR ONTARIO 

Proceeding Commenced at 
TORONTO 

AFFIDAVIT OF OSCAR FURTADO 
(SWORN DECEMBER 14, 2021)

 

MILLER THOMSON LLP 
Scotia Plaza 
40 King Street West, Suite 5800 
Toronto, ON Canada  M5H 3S1 

Gregory Azeff LSO#: 45324C 
Tel: 416.595.2660 
Email: gazeff@millerthomson.com 

Monica Faheim, LSO#: 82213R 
Tel: 416.597.6087  
Email: mfaheim@millerthomson.com 

Lawyers for the Appellants 
RCP-F 4C (September 1, 2020) 

207



208



1

From > 
Sent: March 24, 2022 4:04 PM 
To: ofurtado@sympatico.ca 
Cc:  
Subject: Go-To Vaughan Islington Avenue project 

Hi Oscar, 

I am writing with respect to the above project which we are invested in. 

As discussed on our call today, I wanted to mention that the process being followed by the restructuring 
team leaves a lot to be desired. 

The conversations with you and your team had always been transparent and we were always aware of how 
the project was progressing. It seems to me that KSV doesn't seem to have anything to share with the 
investors other than generic emails of the steps they are taking to dissolve the project. 

We came to Canada just 4 years ago and a substantial part of our savings was invested in this project 
with the hope that once the project is completed, we would be able to use those funds to purchase an 
asset for our daughter's future. The funds are invested with you in Dimple's name for this very reason. 
She wanted to invest her funds with a trusted individual which is why we chose your firm 

It now seems to us that the way the process of soliciting bids is being considered, we as investors, could 
be thrown under the bus with no recourse to take action or influence the outcome 
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I would therefore hope that you win the next court hearing so that we know that our funds are with 
someone who has our best interests at heart. 
 
Please let us know if we can assist you in any way 
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The Receiver’s motion proceeded before me on an unopposed/consent basis. The Receiver seeks approval of a 
sale process for the subject properties. Yesterday, offers were presented by Mr. Furtado’s counsel for the 
Glendale and Aurora properties, which he seeks to remove from the sale process. Counsel have negotiated a 
resolution that will permit the sale process to go forward while having the Receiver evaluate the two offers. 
They have agreed on the following terms, which I endorse: 
 
The Receiver, the Receivership Respondents and Mr. Oscar Furtado (“Furtado”, and with the Receivership 
Respondents, the “Respondents”) agree that the Order sought by the Receiver at the hearing scheduled on 
February 9, 2022 shall be issued, on consent, pursuant to the following terms: 
  

1. The Receiver agrees to use its best efforts to evaluate the agreement of purchase and sale for : 
 

A. 527 Glendale Avenue, St. Catherines, ON, at PIN 46415-0949 (the “Glendale Property”), in the 
form appended as Confidential Exhibit “A” to the Respondents’ motion record dated February 8, 
2022 (the “Glendale Offer”), such that: 

  
if the Receiver determines, after performing due diligence, that:  
  

I. the Glendale Offer is in the best interests of all relevant stakeholders; and  
II. the Receiver is advised in writing by all investors in the Glendale Property that the 

Receiver ought to accept the offer,  
  
the Receiver will take steps to accept the Glendale Offer on the same economic terms as presented within 
Confidential Exhibit “A”, as amended in consultation with the relevant parties, such that the Glendale Property 
will not form part of the Sale Process on a going forward basis.  
  
The Receiver will communicate its intention to accept or reject the Glendale Offer by 5:00 PM EST on Friday, 
February 18, 2022 (the “Acceptance Deadline”). 
 

B. 4951 Aurora Road, Stouffville, ON at PIN 03491-0193 (the “Aurora Property”) in the form 
appended as Confidential Exhibit “D” to the Respondents’ motion record dated February 8, 2022 
(the “Aurora Offer”), such that:  

 
if the Receiver determines, after performing due diligence, that:  
  

I. the Aurora Offer is in the best interests of all relevant stakeholders; 
II. the Receiver is advised in writing by the owners of the other parcels subject to the Aurora 

Offer that the Aurora Offer is acceptable; 
III. the Receiver is advised in writing by all investors and stakeholders, as the Receiver 

deems appropriate, in the Aurora Property that the Receiver ought to accept the offer; and 
IV. the Receiver is satisfied that the proceeds from the Aurora Offer as allocated to the 

Aurora Property will be sufficient to pay, in full, all costs, expenses and stakeholder 
interests in respect of the Aurora Property,  

 
the Receiver will take steps to accept the Aurora Offer on the same economic terms as presented within 
Confidential Exhibit “D”, as amended in consultation with the relevant parties, such that the Aurora Property 
will not form part of the Sale Process on a going forward basis.  
  
The Receiver will communicate its intention to accept or reject the Aurora Offer by the Acceptance Deadline. 
 

2. Approval of the Sale Process, as defined in the Order, remains without prejudice to the Respondents’ 
right to return to this Court in the event that the Receiver communicates its intention to reject the 
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Glendale Offer and/or the Aurora Offer, and seek to have the Glendale Property and/or the Aurora 
Property excluded from the Sale Process. 

  
3. If the Receiver accepts the Glendale Offer and/or the Aurora Offer by the Acceptance Deadline, an 

amount of $50,000 in each of the Glendale Offer and the Aurora Offer shall be included as costs for 
CBRE Limited (“CBRE”) in consideration for its professional fees and expenses to market the Glendale 
Property and the Aurora Property in the Sale Process. 

 
4. The Respondents are restrained from engaging in any further sales or marketing efforts of the Real 

Property, and shall direct any potential purchasers to the Receiver and/or the relevant Realtor.  
 
 
The remaining relief on the motion is acceptable to me, including approval of the first and second reports. 
 
I am granting a sealing order for Confidential Appendix “1” to the Second Report in light of the ongoing sale 
process and the commercially sensitive information contained therein. I am satisfied that it meets the Sierra 
Club/Sherman Estate test for sealing. In addition, I am sealing the Confidential Exhibit Brief of the Responding 
Motion Record, for the same reasons (and it contains private information about the investors). 
 
Order to go as signed by me and attached to this endorsement. This order is effective from today's date and is 
enforceable without the need for entry and filing.   
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From: Mitch Vininsky <mvininsky@ksvadvisory.com>  
Sent: February 15, 2022 8:49 AM 
To: Oscar Furtado <oscarfurtado@gotodevelopments.com> 
Cc: Shoaib Ghani <shoaibghani@gotodevelopments.com>; Azeff, Gregory <gazeff@millerthomson.com>; Bobby Kofman 
<bkofman@ksvadvisory.com>; Jordan Wong <Jwong@ksvadvisory.com> 
Subject: RE: Glendale LP re Capital Build 

Thank you for this and the other email re Aurora.  

Can you please call me on cell to discuss the Glendale APAs? 

From: Oscar Furtado <oscarfurtado@gotodevelopments.com>  
Sent: February 14, 2022 10:14 PM 
To: Jordan Wong <Jwong@ksvadvisory.com>; Mitch Vininsky <mvininsky@ksvadvisory.com> 

Mitch Vininsky 
Managing Director 

T 416.932.6013 
M 416.254.4912 
W www.ksvadvisory.com
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you are hereby notified that any dissemination, distribution or copying of this communication is strictly prohibited.  If you have received this communication in error, 

please notify me by reply email and delete this message. Thank you. 
  
------------------------------ 
[EXTERNAL EMAIL / COURRIEL EXTERNE]  
Please report any suspicious attachments, links, or requests for sensitive information. 
Veuillez rapporter la présence de pièces jointes, de liens ou de demandes d’information sensible qui vous 
semblent suspectes. 
------------------------------ 
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From: Mitch Vininsky <mvininsky@ksvadvisory.com>  
Sent: February 17, 2022 4:01 PM 
To: Oscar Furtado <oscarfurtado@gotodevelopments.com>; Jordan Wong <Jwong@ksvadvisory.com> 
Cc: Azeff, Gregory <gazeff@millerthomson.com>; shoaibghani@gotodevelopments.com; Bobby Kofman 
<bkofman@ksvadvisory.com>; Ian Aversa (iaversa@airdberlis.com) <iaversa@airdberlis.com> 
Subject: RE: Eagle Valley - Capital Build Construction Lien 

This is very helpful. Again, we appreciate your input on this. 

From: Oscar Furtado <oscarfurtado@gotodevelopments.com>  
Sent: February 17, 2022 3:38 PM 
To: Mitch Vininsky <mvininsky@ksvadvisory.com>; Jordan Wong <Jwong@ksvadvisory.com> 
Cc: Azeff, Gregory <gazeff@millerthomson.com>; shoaibghani@gotodevelopments.com 
Subject: Eagle Valley - Capital Build Construction Lien 

Mitch Vininsky 
Managing Director 

T 416.932.6013 
M 416.254.4912 
W www.ksvadvisory.com
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This message, including attachments, is intended only for the use of the individual or entity to which it is addressed and contains information that is privileged and 

confidential.  If the reader of this message is not the intended recipient, or the employees or agent responsible for delivering the message to the intended recipient, 

you are hereby notified that any dissemination, distribution or copying of this communication is strictly prohibited.  If you have received this communication in error, 

please notify me by reply email and delete this message. Thank you. 
  
------------------------------ 
[EXTERNAL EMAIL / COURRIEL EXTERNE]  
Please report any suspicious attachments, links, or requests for sensitive information. 
Veuillez rapporter la présence de pièces jointes, de liens ou de demandes d’information sensible qui vous 
semblent suspectes. 
------------------------------ 
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From: Mitch Vininsky <mvininsky@ksvadvisory.com>  
Sent: February 17, 2022 8:32 AM 
To: Oscar Furtado <oscarfurtado@gotodevelopments.com>; Jordan Wong <Jwong@ksvadvisory.com> 
Cc: Shoaib Ghani <shoaibghani@gotodevelopments.com>; Azeff, Gregory <gazeff@millerthomson.com>; Bobby Kofman 
<bkofman@ksvadvisory.com> 
Subject: RE: Major Mackenzie - Capital Build Lien 

Thank you Oscar. We will be reviewing CB’s claims carefully and requesting full support for them. 

From: Oscar Furtado <oscarfurtado@gotodevelopments.com>  
Sent: February 16, 2022 10:58 PM 
To: Mitch Vininsky <mvininsky@ksvadvisory.com>; Jordan Wong <Jwong@ksvadvisory.com> 
Cc: Shoaib Ghani <shoaibghani@gotodevelopments.com>; Azeff, Gregory <gazeff@millerthomson.com> 
Subject: Major Mackenzie - Capital Build Lien 

Mitch Vininsky 
Managing Director 

T 416.932.6013 
M 416.254.4912 
W www.ksvadvisory.com

222



223



3

Veuillez rapporter la présence de pièces jointes, de liens ou de demandes d’information sensible qui vous 
semblent suspectes. 
------------------------------ 
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Court of Appeal File No. 
Court File No.: CV-21-00673521-00CL

COURT OF APPEAL FOR ONTARIO

BETWEEN:

ONTARIO SECURITIES COMMISSION

Applicant
(Respondent in Appeal)

- and –

GO-TO DEVELOPMENTS HOLDINGS INC., OSCAR FURTADO, FURTADO 
HOLDINGS INC., GO-TO DEVELOPMENTS ACQUISITIONS INC., GO-TO 

GLENDALE AVENUE INC., GO-TO GLENDALE AVENUE LP, GO-TO MAJOR 
MACKENZIE SOUTH BLOCK INC., GO-TO MAJOR MACKENZIE SOUTH BLOCK 

LP, GO-TO MAJOR MACKENZIE SOUTH BLOCK II INC., GO-TO MAJOR 
MACKENZIE SOUTH BLOCK II LP, GO-TO NIAGARA FALLS CHIPPAWA INC., 

GO-TO NIAGARA FALLS CHIPPAWA LP, GO-TO NIAGARA FALLS EAGLE 
VALLEY INC., GO-TO NIAGARA FALLS EAGLE VALLEY LP, GO-TO SPADINA 

ADELAIDE SQUARE INC., GO-TO SPADINA ADELAIDE SQUARE LP, GO-TO 
STONEY CREEK ELFRIDA INC., GO-TO STONEY CREEK ELFRIDA LP, GO-TO ST. 

CATHARINES BEARD INC., GO-TO ST. CATHARINES BEARD LP, GO-TO 
VAUGHAN ISLINGTON AVENUE INC., GO-TO VAUGHAN ISLINGTON AVENUE 
LP, AURORA ROAD LIMITED PARTNERSHIP and 2506039 ONTARIO LIMITED

Respondents
(Appellants in Appeal – Moving Party)

APPLICATION UNDER SECTIONS 126 AND 129 OF THE SECURITIES ACT, R.S.O. 
1990, c. S.5, AS AMENDED

AFFIDAVIT OF PARMPAL PARMAR
(sworn April 4th, 2022)
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Scotia Plaza
40 King Street West 
Suite 5800
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Gregory Azeff LSO#: 45324C
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Email: gazeff@millerthomson.com

Monica Faheim LSO#: 82213R
Tel: 416.597.6087
Email: mfaheim@millerthomson.com

Lawyers for the Appellants

227



- 3 -

Court of Appeal File No. 
Court File No.: CV-21-00673521-00CL

COURT OF APPEAL FOR ONTARIO

BETWEEN:

ONTARIO SECURITIES COMMISSION

Applicant / Respondent

- and –

GO-TO DEVELOPMENTS HOLDINGS INC., OSCAR FURTADO, FURTADO 
HOLDINGS INC., GO-TO DEVELOPMENTS ACQUISITIONS INC., GO-TO 

GLENDALE AVENUE INC., GO-TO GLENDALE AVENUE LP, GO-TO MAJOR 
MACKENZIE SOUTH BLOCK INC., GO-TO MAJOR MACKENZIE SOUTH BLOCK 

LP, GO-TO MAJOR MACKENZIE SOUTH BLOCK II INC., GO-TO MAJOR 
MACKENZIE SOUTH BLOCK II LP, GO-TO NIAGARA FALLS CHIPPAWA INC., 

GO-TO NIAGARA FALLS CHIPPAWA LP, GO-TO NIAGARA FALLS EAGLE 
VALLEY INC., GO-TO NIAGARA FALLS EAGLE VALLEY LP, GO-TO SPADINA 

ADELAIDE SQUARE INC., GO-TO SPADINA ADELAIDE SQUARE LP, GO-TO 
STONEY CREEK ELFRIDA INC., GO-TO STONEY CREEK ELFRIDA LP, GO-TO ST. 

CATHARINES BEARD INC., GO-TO ST. CATHARINES BEARD LP, GO-TO 
VAUGHAN ISLINGTON AVENUE INC., GO-TO VAUGHAN ISLINGTON AVENUE 
LP, AURORA ROAD LIMITED PARTNERSHIP and 2506039 ONTARIO LIMITED

Respondents / Appellants

APPLICATION UNDER SECTIONS 126 AND 129 OF THE SECURITIES ACT, R.S.O. 
1990, c. S.5, AS AMENDED

AFFIDAVIT OF PARMPAL PARMAR
(sworn April 4th, 2022)

I, PARMPAL PARMAR, of the City of Mississauga, in the Regional Municipality of 

Peel, in the Province of Ontario, MAKE OATH AND SAY AS FOLLOWS: 

1. I am an investor in the real property owned by Aurora Road Limited Partnership (the 

“Aurora Road Project”). As such, I have personal knowledge of the matters to which I herein 
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depose.  Where the source of my information or belief is other than my own personal knowledge, 

I have identified the source and the basis for my information and believe it to be true.

2. This Affidavit is sworn in response to a Motion (the “Fresh Evidence Motion”) by the 

Ontario Securities Commission (the “Commission”) to have new evidence (the “New Evidence”) 

admitted in connection with the Commission’s response to the an appeal of the Order of the 

Honourable Mr. Justice Pattillo of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice (Commercial List) issued 

December 10, 2021 (the “Receivership Order”). Capitalized terms used herein are as defined in 

the Affidavit of Oscar Furtado sworn April 2nd, 2022 unless otherwise defined herein.

3. I have reviewed the Commission’s materials filed in connection with the Fresh Evidence 

Motion. I wish to respond specifically to the Commission’s assertion in its factum at paragraph 

15(b) that “there are multiple stakeholders in the Go-To entities, and none opposed the Sales 

Process Motion”. Moreover, at paragraph 20 of its factum, the Commission asserts that “[t]he 

Fresh Evidence illustrates to this Court both the magnitude of the risk to stakeholders, which 

includes investors, given the financial precarity of the Go-To entities as well as the absence of any 

opposition to the Receivership by any interested party except Furtado.” 

4. I wish to make it abundantly clear that any lack of opposition on my part with respect to 

the Sales Process Motion should not be taken to mean that I support the Receivership or the sale 

of the properties in the Receiver’s sale process. In fact, since the appointment of the Receiver, I 

have been unable to obtain any comfort or certainty with respect to the return of my investment. 

Prior to the appointment of the Receiver, I was able to communicate directly with Oscar Furtado 

regarding my investment, and we had built a business relationship based on mutual trust and 

confidence. I was never concerned about my investment prior to the appointment of the Receiver. 
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5. Upon the issuance of the Receivership Order, I initiated discussions with the Receiver 

regarding several of my concerns about the receivership and about my investment. Each time, I 

was left with the impression that any challenge to the Receiver’s sale process would not be worth 

pursuing.

6. Finally, I wish to make clear my position that I do not support the ongoing receivership 

proceedings including the Receiver’s sale process, and my hope is that Oscar Furtado is put back 

in control of the Go-To entities for the benefit of myself and the other investors. 

7. I swear this affidavit in response to the Commission’s Motion for admission of the Fresh

Evidence, and for no other or improper purpose or delay.

SWORN before me at the City of 
Mississauga, in the Province of Ontario, 
this 4th day of April 2022.

PARMPAL PARMAR
Commissioner for Taking Affidavits

Monica Faheim
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